
1 
 

 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Agenda 
October 3, 2016 

Executive Session – 6:00 P.M. 
Regular - 7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Town Hall 
85 Union Street 

 
Roll Call of Members 
 
Acknowledgement of Meeting Notice 
 
Executive Session:  [1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D)] Labor Negotiations 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Adjustments to Agenda 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 

a) Approval of the Minutes of September 19, 2016 
b) Appointment of Fran Smith as Warden and Elin Gould, Sara King, and Joe Zrioka as 

Deputy Wardens for the November 8, 2016 Election 
c) Approval of the Election Warrant for November 8, 2016  
d) Approval of an abatement of personal property taxes assessed to Stephanie Veilleux-

Welch 
 
Public Comments 
 
Correspondence 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 

• Master Plan Implementation Committee 
• Recycling & Sustainability Committee 
• Rivers & Coastal Waters Commission 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
a) Project Tracking Report  
b) Reminder of Fire Department Open House 
c) Hazardous Waste Collection Day at Public Works Department 
d) Reminder of absentee ballots availability 
e) Update on landfill 
  



2 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 
106. The Town Council will hear public comments on the following Automobile Graveyard 

and Junkyard application, and will take any appropriate action. (Manager) 
 
Shawn Letourneau 
D/B/A: Brunswick Auto Recycling, LLC    Shawn Letourneau 
117 Bath Road 

HEARING/ACTION 
 
107. The Town Council will hear public comments on the following Special Amusement 

License application, and will take any appropriate action (Manager)  
 

AKI Japanese Cuisine 
D/B/A AKI Japanese Cuisine   Tina Cigri, Luara Cigri and Valamin Ly 
94 Maine Street 

HEARING/ACTION 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
108. The Town Council will consider a request from the Brunswick Sewer District to create a 

task force to consider possible Charter and ordinance changes or revisions to foster sewer 
extensions for growth and development.  (Manager)  

ACTION 
 

109. The Town Council will discuss the Browntail moth infestation and any possible 
 interventions or preparations available to reduce the potential for another outbreak next 
 spring.  (Manager) 

DISCUSSION 
 
110. The Town Council will consider applying for the designation of Tree City USA and 

establishing a tree committee, and will take any appropriate action. (Chair Brayman)   
DISCUSSION 

 
111. The Town Council will consider modifications to the Finance Committee Policy, as 
 recommended by the Finance Committee.  (Finance Committee) 

ACTION 
 

112. The Town Council will consider adopting an Investment Policy recommended by the 
 Finance Committee.  (Finance Committee) 

ACTION 
 
113. At this time the Appointments Committee will make nominations to fill vacancies on 

Town Boards and Committees, and will take any appropriate action.  (Appointments 
Committee) 

ACTION 
 
 



3 
 

INDIVIDUALS NEEDING AUXILIARY AIDS FOR EFFECTIVE 
COMMUNICATION SHOULD CONTACT  

THE TOWN MANAGER’S OFFICE AT 725-6659 (TDD 725-5521) 
 

  



4 
 

Brunswick Town Council 
Agenda  

October 3, 2016 
Council Notes and Suggested Motions 

 
Executive Session:  [1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D)] Labor Negotiations 
 

Suggested motion: 
Motion to go into executive session to discuss labor negotiations per 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D). 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
a) Approval of the Minutes of September 19, 2016:  A copy of the minutes is included in your 

packet. 
b) Appointment of Fran Smith as Warden and Elin Gould, Sara King, and Joe Zrioka as Deputy 

Wardens for the November 8, 2016 Election:  These are appointments for the November 
election.   

c) Approval of the Election Warrant for November 8, 2016:  A copy of the warrant is included 
in your packet.   

d) Approval of a tax abatement relative to personal property for Stephanie Veilleux-Welch: This 
item is for the Council to approve a tax abatement for personal property assessed in error.  A 
copy of a memo from the Assessor is included in your packet. 

 
The Council has the option to remove any item from the Consent Agenda to be considered 
separately. 
 

Suggested motion: 
Motion to approve the Consent Agenda. 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
This is the opportunity for Councilors to share any correspondence they may have. 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 

• MPIC 
• Recycling & Sustainability Committee 
• Rivers & Coastal Waters Commission 

 
Councilors representing the Council on the above committees that have recently met will 
provide brief updates.  If there are any Committee updates beyond those listed, Councilors 
may also share them with the Council and public. 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT: 
 
a) Project Tracking Report:  The Council will receive a monthly report on projects being 

tracked.  A copy of the project list is included in your packet. 
 

b) Reminder of Fire Prevention Open House:  The Brunswick Fire Department will host an 
open house during Fire Prevention Week.  It will occur at Emerson Station, 284 Bath Road, 



5 
 

on Wednesday, October 12th from 4 pm to 7 pm.  There will be a bounce house, popcorn and 
prizes, and it will be held rain or shine. 
 

c) Hazardous Waste  Collection Day at Public Works Department:  The Public Works 
Department will be hosting their annual Household Hazardous Waste Collection Day on 
October 29th at Brunswick Public Works for citizens who preregister.  More information is 
available on the Public Works webpage. 

 
d) Absentee ballot reminder:  Town Clerk Fran Smith will remind citizens that absentee ballots 

will be available in the Town Clerk’s office starting October 7th, but can be requested now.  
They will be available to request or to vote in person up to Thursday, November 3rd, with the 
office open until 7:00 p.m. that evening.  There are additional hours for absentee voting 
beginning on October 17th, including two Saturdays.  This information is on the town 
website’s homepage. 

 
e) Update on landfill:  This item is to inform the Council and public of the current status of the 

treatment plant and the steps needed should the town wish to begin the closure process.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
106. This item is the public hearing on the renewal of an Automobile Graveyard and Junkyard 

licenses for Brunswick Auto Recycling, LLC located on 117 Bath Road.  This license is 
required by both the Town’s ordinance and state law.  The facility has passed an 
inspection, conducted by Officer Plummer, and his report is included for your review.  
There have been no special conditions set for this license in the past.  Copies of the public 
hearing notice, application, and inspection report are included in your packet. 
 
Suggested motion: 
Motion to approve the application for Automobile Graveyard and Junkyard licenses for 
Brunswick Auto Recycling, LLC., located at 117 Bath Road. 

 
107. This item is the required public hearing on a renewal special amusement license 

application for AKI Japanese Cuisine, 94 Maine Street.  They would like to have DJs.  
Their personal property taxes are paid in full and there are no past restrictions set on this 
license.  A copy of the application is included in your packet. 

 
Suggested Motion: 
Motion to approve a special amusement license application for AKI Japanese Cuisine, 
located at 94 Maine Street. 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
108. The Brunswick Sewer District is asking the Council to create a task force involving 

District and Town personnel to consider possible Charter and ordinance changes or 
revisions in order to extend sewer extensions within the growth zone.  The Brunswick 
Sewer District is hesitant to participate in the cost of sewer extensions without a 
commitment from the town that additional development along an extension corridor will 
be required to connect to the public sewer.  Without that commitment, and if small 



6 
 

developments choose onsite septic systems, they cannot recoup their investment, which is 
a requirement of their Charter.  Ideally, they would like to submit Charter changes to the 
Legislature by the end of December for consideration during the 2017 session.  A copy of 
the letter from the Sewer District is included in your packet. 

 
Suggested Motion: 
The Council will create a task force involving District and Town personnel to consider 
Charter and ordinance changes in order to extend sewer extensions within the growth 
zone. 
 

109. This item is to discuss current Browntail moth control techniques, precautions and 
 community health concerns and any recommendations for future infested areas.  A 
 community panel discussion was held at Curtis Memorial Library on September 28th, 
 which was attended by Derek Scrapchansky, Assistant Town Manager, and he will be 
 available to brief the Council on this event.4444 
 

Suggested Motion: 
This is a discussion item so there is no suggested motion. 

 
110. This item, sponsored by Chair Brayman, asks the Council to appoint a tree committee and 

consider applying to become a Tree City USA.  Tree City USA is a national program of 
the Arbor Day Foundation that offers recognition to communities that exhibit sound and 
effective management of their public trees, and one of the requirements is to have a 
municipal entity explicitly responsible for public tree care. 

 
Suggested Motion: 
This is a discussion item so there is no suggested motion. 

 
111. This item, sponsored by the Finance Committee, requests the Council’s approval of 

several modifications to the Finance Committee Policy.  A memo from Julie Henze, 
Finance Director, and the Finance Committee Policy, redlined with suggested changes, is 
included in your packet. 

  
Suggested Motion: 
Motion to approve  modifications to the Finance Committee Policy as recommended by 
the Finance Committee.  

 
112. This item, sponsored by the Finance Committee, requests the  adoption of a proposed 

Investment Policy, which is based largely on recommended practices as detailed by the 
Governmental Finance Officers Association.  A memo from Julie Henze, Finance 
Director, and a copy of the proposed Investment Policy, is included in your packet. 

 
Suggested Motion: 

 Motion to adopt the Investment Policy recommended by the Finance Committee. 
 
113. At this time the Appointments Committee will make nominations to fill vacancies on 

Town Boards and Committees.  Copies of the Committee’s report and corresponding 
applications are included in your packet. 



7 
 

 
Suggested Motion: 
Nominations will be made, with no seconds required, and the Council will then vote on 
them. 

 
Suggested Motion:  
Motion to adjourn the meeting. 



 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - A 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Draft 
BRUNSWICK TOWN COUNCIL 

Minutes 
September 19, 2016 

6:00 P.M. – Executive Session 
7:00 P.M. – Regular Meeting 

Council Chambers 
Town Hall 

85 Union Street 
 
Councilors Present: W. David Watson, Stephen S. Walker, Suzan Wilson, John M. 

Perreault, Daniel E. Harris, Jane F. Millett, Sarah E. Brayman, Kathy 
Wilson and Alison Harris 

 
Councilors Absent: None 
 
Town Staff Present: John S. Eldridge, III, Town Manager; Fran Smith, Town Clerk; Derek 

Scrapchansky, Assistant Town Manager; Julia Henze, Finance 
Director; Tom Farrell, Parks and Recreation Director; Linda Smith, 
Business Development Manager; Anna Breinich, Director of Planning 
and Development; Jared Woolston, Town Planner; and TV video crew. 

 
Chair Brayman called the meeting to order, asked for roll call, and acknowledged the 
meeting was properly noticed.   
 
Executive Session:  [1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(C)] Disposition of Property and [1 M.R.S.A. 
§405(6)(E)] Consultation with legal counsel on rights and duties 
 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to go into executive session for 
disposition of property per 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(C) and consultation with legal counsel 
on rights and duties 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(E).  The motion carried with six (6) yeas.  
Councilor S. Wilson, Councilor K. Wilson and Councilor A. Harris were opposed. 
 
Adjustments to Agenda:   
 
To move Item 104 before Item 98.  To add an executive session at the end of the meeting to 
discuss union negotiations. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA (This item was discussed at 7:03 p.m.) 
a) Approval of the minutes of September 6, 2016 
b) Selection of MMA Voting Delegation for Annual Meeting 
c) Safety Committee / MMA Fall Safety Grant   
 
Chair Brayman pulled item CA-b from the consent agenda. 
 



Town Council Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 2 
 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor Millett seconded, to approve items a and c of the 
Consent Agenda.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor K. Wilson seconded, to nominate Councilor K. 
Wilson as the MMA Delegate to its convention.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas. 
 
(A copy of a memo for Item CA-c will be attached to the official minutes.)  
 
Public Comments (This item was discussed at 7:05 p.m.) 
 
Joe Donahue, American Legion, presented the Council with a Blue Star Banner to be flown 
on the town hall flag pole, and a Certificate of Accommodation. 
 
James Trusiani, 6 Pleasant Street, asked if there would be public comments on item 98, and 
Chair Brayman responded “no”.   
 
Correspondence (This item was discussed at 7:12 p.m.) 
 
Councilor Perreault said citizens expressed concerns about the old Puffin Stop on Bath Road 
that has tarps coming off and they hope the area can be cleaned up.  He received about ten 
comments regarding concerns over shooting ranges. 
 
Councilor Millett said a resident sent an email regarding the browntail moth issue and asked 
what could be done next year. The library is having a presentation on September 28th on this 
subject. 
 
Councilor K. Wilson said there is a road sign that needs trimming around between Pleasant 
Hill Road and Maine Street. 
 
Councilor S. Wilson thanked the Police and Fire Departments for their quick response to a 
fire on his street. 
 
Chair Brayman said a citizen requested improving crosswalks in the downtown area with 
cross hatching. 
 
Councilor Perreault said a citizen requested a crosswalk at the end of Weymouth Street and 
Bodwell Street. 
  
COMMITTEE REPORTS (This item was discussed at 7:18 p.m.) 

 Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee 
 Brunswick Development Corporation 
 Cable TV Committee 
 Finance Committee 
 TIF Committee 
 Teen Center Advisory Committee 



Town Council Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 3 
 
Reports were given on the above committees. 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT 
a) Recognition of Emily Swan for her service on Village Review Board (This item was 

discussed at 7:28 p.m.) 
 
Anna Breinich and Gary Massanek, Chair of VRB, spoke of Ms. Swan’s accomplishments 
while on the board. 
 
Emily Swan thanked staff, VRB and the Council. 
 
b) Growstown Historic Community Celebration (Councilor S. Wilson) (This item was 

discussed at 7:34 p.m.) 
 
Councilor S. Wilson introduced this item. 
 
Cathy Leonard, Millie Stewart, and Carol Visser, committee members, spoke regarding 
the upcoming celebration.   
 
Councilor K. Wilson and Councilor Watson spoke on this item. 
 
c) Financial update (This item was discussed at 7:47 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge provided this update. 
 
d) Revaluation update (This item was discussed at 7:48 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge provided this update. 
 
(A memo from Assessor Cathy Jamison will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
e) Report on the Portland Metro (This item was discussed at 7:49 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge spoke regarding this item and responded to questions from Councilor 
Perreault, Chair Brayman, Councilor Millett, Councilor Walker, Councilor A. Harris, and 
Councilor K. Wilson. 
 
Councilor S. Wilson spoke regarding this item. 
 
(A memo from Manager Eldridge and information on the service will be attached to the 
official minutes.) 
 
 
 



Town Council Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 4 
 
f) Reminder of Council workshop regarding plastic bag ordinance (This item was 

discussed at 7:55 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge spoke regarding this item. 
 
g) Reminder of upcoming polystyrene ban (This item was discussed at 7:56 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge spoke regarding this item and responded to questions from Chair 
Brayman. 
 
h) (ADDED) Hazardous waste day at Public Works Department (This item was 

discussed at 7:58 p.m.) 
 
Manager Eldridge spoke regarding this item. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
103. The Town Council will hear public comments on a renewal special amusement 

application, and will take any appropriate action.  (Manager) (This item was 
discussed at 8:00 p.m.) 

 
Special Amusement 
Frontier Group     Michael Gilroy 
D/B/A: Frontier  

 14 Maine Street 
 
Chair Brayman opened the public hearing. 
 
Fran Smith, Town Clerk, spoke regarding this item. 
 
Chair Brayman closed public hearing. 
 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor K. Wilson seconded, to approve a special 
amusement license for Frontier, located at 14 Maine Street.  The motion carried with 
nine (9) yeas. 
 
TABLED ITEM 
 
98. The Town Council will hear recommendations from various town 

committee/boards regarding 946 Mere Point Road being retained by the town, 
and will take any appropriate action. (Manager) (This item was discussed at 8:21 
p.m.) 

 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item and responded to questions from Councilor Walker, 
Chair Brayman, Councilor Millett, Councilor S. Wilson, and Councilor D. Harris. 



Town Council Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 5 
 
There was a 10 minute break. 
 
Chair Brayman spoke regarding the decision-making process. 
 
Councilor A. Harris spoke regarding this item. 
 
MOTION: 
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor D. Harris seconded, to retain 946 Mere Point 
Road in town ownership, and to establish an inclusive stakeholder group (including 
neighbors, committee representatives, citizens at large) to identify park designs and 
uses compatible with the neighborhood, and to identify funding sources necessary for 
one time site improvement cost, and longer term stewardship needs.  If a compatible 
design cannot be devised, or if funding needs cannot be met, or if a better less tidal site 
is identified, the Council may reconsider the sale of the property.  
 
Councilor Millett, Councilor S. Wilson, Councilor D. Harris, Councilor Walker, Councilor 
Perreault, Councilor K. Wilson, Councilor Watson, and Councilor A. Harris spoke regarding 
this motion. 
 
Councilor Perreault asked questions, to which Councilor Walker responded.   
 
Councilor Millett moved to the motion, but there was no second. 
 
Councilor S. Wilson and Chair Brayman made additional comments.  
 
VOTE ON MOTION: 
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor D. Harris seconded, to retain 946 Mere Point 
Road in town ownership, and to establish an inclusive stakeholder group (including 
neighbors, committee representatives, citizens at large) to identify park designs and 
uses compatible with the neighborhood, and to identify funding sources necessary for 
one time site improvement cost, and longer term stewardship needs.  If a compatible 
design cannot be devised, or if funding needs cannot be met, or if a better less tidal site 
is identified, the Council may reconsider the sale of the property.  The motion failed 
with four (4) yeas.  Councilor Watson, Councilor S. Wilson, Councilor Perreault, 
Councilor K. Wilson, and Councilor A. Harris were opposed. 
 
SECOND MOTION: 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor S. Wilson seconded, to sell the property for 
market value, including deed restrictions for a grave and a walk-in right-of-way for 
shellfish harvesters. 
 
Councilor S. Wilson, Councilor Walker, Councilor A. Harris, and Chair Brayman spoke 
regarding this motion. 
 



Town Council Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 6 
 
Councilor A. Harris asked questions, to which Manager Eldridge and Town Attorney 
Langsdorf responded. 
 
Restated motion: 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor S. Wilson seconded, to sell the property for 
market value, including deed restrictions for a grave and a walk-in right-of-way for 
shellfish harvesters. 
 
AMENDMENT TO MOTION 
Councilor K. Wilson moved, Councilor A. Harris seconded, to amend the motion to  
state “with the understanding that the Council will consider a walk-in right-of-way for 
shellfish harvesters.” The motion carried with five (5) yeas.  Councilor Walker, Chair 
Brayman, Councilor D. Harris, and Councilor Millett were opposed. 
 
VOTE ON MOTION AS AMENDED 
Councilor Perreault moved, Councilor S. Wilson seconded, to sell the property, 
including a deed restriction for a grave, and with the understanding that the Council 
will consider a walk-in right-way for shellfish harvesters.  The motion carried with five 
(5) yeas.  Councilor Walker, Chair Brayman, Councilor D. Harris, and Councilor 
Millett were opposed. 
 
ADDITIONAL MOTION 
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor K. Wilson seconded, to have any funds from the 
sale proceeds go back to fund water access needs after back taxes are paid. 
 
Councilor S. Wilson, Councilor Perreault Councilor Watson, Councilor Millett, Councilor A. 
Harris, and Councilor Perreault spoke. 
 
VOTE ON THIS MOTION 
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor K. Wilson seconded, to have any funds from the 
sale proceeds go back to fund water access needs after back taxes are paid.  The motion 
carried with six (6) yeas. Councilor Millett, Councilor K. Wilson, and Councilor A. 
Harris were opposed.  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
104. The Town Council will consider adopting “A Resolution Authorizing an 

Appropriation and Grant of Available Tax Increment Financing Proceeds to the 
Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority”, and will take any appropriate 
action. (TIF Committee) (This item was discussed at 8:01 p.m.) 

 
This item was done prior to tabled item 98. 
 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item. 
 



Town Council Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 7 
 
Jeff Jordan, Deputy Executive Director of MRRA, spoke regarding this item and responded 
to questions from Councilor Watson. 
 
James Trusiani, 6 Pleasant Street, spoke regarding this item. 
 
Councilor Walker moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to adopt “A Resolution 
Authorizing an Appropriation and Grant of Available Tax Increment Financing 
Proceeds to the Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority”.  The motion carried 
with nine (9) yeas. 
 
(A copy of the adopted resolution will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
105. The Town Council will consider adopting “A Resolution Authorizing an 

Appropriation of $50,000 from Available TIF Revenues for the Purpose of 
Funding Costs of the Study, Planning and Design of a New Road in the Cooks 
Corner area connecting Gurnet Road and Admiral Fitch Avenue” and will take 
any appropriate action. (TIF Committee) (This item was discussed at 10:07 p.m.)  

 
Manager Eldridge introduced this item. 
 
Councilor Perreault, Councilor Millett, and Councilor S. Wilson asked questions, to which 
Manager Eldridge and Linda Smith responded. 
 
Councilor D. Harris and Councilor Watson spoke regarding this item. 
 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to adopt “A Resolution 
Authorizing an Appropriation of $50,000 from Available TIF Revenues for the Purpose 
of Funding Costs of the Study, Planning and Design of a New Road in the Cooks Corner 
area connecting Gurnet Road and Admiral Fitch Avenue”.  The motion carried with 
nine (9) yeas. 
 
(A copy of the adopted resolution will be attached to the official minutes.) 
 
(ADDED) Executive Session:  [1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D)] Labor Negotiations 
 
Chair Brayman moved, Councilor Watson seconded, to go into executive session to 
discuss Labor Negotiations per 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(D) and to adjourn the meeting after 
the executive session.  The motion carried with nine (9) yeas.   
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:30 p.m. 
 
PLEASE NOTE:  THESE MINUTES ARE ACTION MINUTES.  THE ENTIRE 
MEETING CAN BE VIEWED AT WWW.BRUNSWICKME.ORG.  
 
 



Town Council Minutes 
September 19, 2016 
Page 8 
 
 
 
Frances M. Smith 
Town Clerk 
September 25, 2016 
 

October 3, 2016 
Date of Approval 

 

___________________________ 
Council Chair 



 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - B 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - C 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



O:\Word\Election\Forms\WARRANT 11-08-16.docx 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 
Warrant for Municipal Election 

November 8, 2016 
COUNTY OF CUMBERLAND, ss} 
TOWN OF BRUNSWICK      } 
 
TO ELIN M. GOULD, RESIDENT OF THE TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, CUMBERLAND COUNTY, 
MAINE: 
 
YOU ARE HEREBY REQUIRED, in the name of the State of Maine, to notify and warn the voters of the Town 
of Brunswick, Districts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of the following: 
 
YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED, that on November 8, 2016, a Municipal Election will be held in the Town of 
Brunswick, Districts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 at the following voting place for all voters to vote for the offices 
indicated herein: 
 
Voting Place Name   Brunswick Junior High School      Voting Place Location    65 Columbia Ave 
   Polls Open at   7:00 A.M.  Polls Close at 8:00 P.M. 
 
Absentee Ballot Processing (check all that apply): 
 
Processed by:      Municipal Clerk (Centrally)       Warden (At polls)  
 
Date/Time of Processing (check all that apply): 
 

 Saturday, November 5, 2016* 
 1-Hour Inspection Time Period: 9:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m. 
 Time Processing Begins: 9:00 a.m. (or after time of inspection) to 5:00 p.m. 

 
 Monday, November 7, 2016* 
 1-Hour Inspection Time Period: 9:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m. 
 Time Processing Begins: 9:00 a.m. (or after time of inspection) to 5:00 p.m. 
 
 During Election Day (11/8/16) Processing Time(s): at Brunswick Junior High School, 65 Columbia Ave 

                              Processing Time(s): 2:00 p.m., 5:00 p.m. and 8:00 p.m. 
 
The following offices will be determined: 
 Councilor for Districts 1, 2 and 6 
 School Board for Districts 1, 2, and 6 

 
Dated at Brunswick this 3rd day of October 2016 

 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
 
ATTEST: ________________________(Town Clerk) 



O:\Word\Election\Forms\WARRANT 11-08-16.docx 

 
 
 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 
RETURN OF WARRANT 

 
County of Cumberland, ss} 
Town of Brunswick    } 
 
I certify that I have notified the voters of Brunswick, Districts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of the time and place of the Municipal 
Election and processing of absentee ballots by posting attested copies of the within warrant at the following locations, 
each being a public and conspicuous place within the indicated District: 
 
District 1 Mid Coast Hospital 
District 2 Parkview Medical Center 
District 3 Brunswick High School 
District 4 Sunshine Laundry 
District 5 Libby’s Market 
District 6 Little Dog Coffee Shop 
District 7 Warming's Market 
 
On ____________________, which is at least 7 days prior to Election Day.   
 (Date) 
 
Dated at Brunswick this _____ day of October, 2016. 

 
 
 

______________________________________________ 
Elin M. Gould, Resident of the Town of Brunswick 

 
 



 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA - D 
BACK UP MATERIALS 





 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - A 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



Town	of	Brunswick	‐	Open	Projects
Council	List	‐	Worksheet	‐	By	Prioirty

Thursday, September 29, 2016

1:47:23 PM

ID   Title Priority Due Date PctDays Current UpdateStatus

1 ‐ Now!

140 Miller Point Shoreline Stabilization 1 ‐ Now! 9/15/2016 95%‐14 Completed Staff/Public Review Meeting on 
6/27
Applicant filed updated plan with MDEP
Need to complete vegetation agreement 
following MDEP approval.

In Progress

127 Wood Pond Village Improvements 1 ‐ Now! 10/31/2016 50%32 Developer to meet with Town Engineer to 
review construction and paving plans.

In Progress

2 ‐ High

2 MRRA Tax Appeal / TIF amendments 2 ‐ High 9/30/2016 95%1 Amendments approved by DECD.  CEA 
executed.  Case to be dismissed with 
prejudice.  TIF Development Program 
amendments and CEA approved by Town 
Council 6/20/16.  Documents submitted to 
DECD for approval, anticipate response by 
9/15/16.  Expect to sign CEA after DECD 
approval, and MRRA to dismiss the lawsuit.

In Progress

47 4 Solid Waste Study 2 ‐ High 9/30/2016 90%1 MET with DEP Commissioner on 9/13.  
Negotiating path forward with DEP.  Report 
being finalized.
See Grahmam Road Landfill.

In Progress

43 Mooring Feasibility Study 2 ‐ High 10/1/2016 90%2 Draft Report provided to RCWC.In Progress

142 Cumberland Farms Demolition 2 ‐ High 10/31/2016 80%32 Expect demolition by the end of October or 
November. John Foster to schedule with 
contractor. Asbestos abatement on 3 Oct.

In Progress

Page 1 of 7



ID   Title Priority Due Date PctDays Current UpdateStatus

29 Cable TV Franchise Negotiations 2 ‐ High 10/31/2016 50%32 Model franchise agreement to replace 
Brunswick agreement.

6/1 Discussion with Jay Somers on dark fiber 
request.

In Progress

30 Meeting Minutes & Indexing 2 ‐ High 10/31/2016 50%32 Have several proposals.  Narrowed to 2.  
Setting up demos with Bryan and Deb. Then 
fine tune info and call references

In Progress

4 47 Graham Road Landfill 2 ‐ High 10/31/2016 50%32 Met with MDEP Commissioner on 
September 13th.  Conversations on‐going 
with MDEP.  Completion of solid waste 
alternatives report from Woodard and 
Curran pending resolution with DEP on 
clousre funding and timing.

In Progress

7 Zoning Ordinance Re‐write 2 ‐ High 12/31/2016 85%93 Planning Board and ZORC continue to review 
DRAFT.

In Progress

129 Plastic Bag Reduction Ordinance 2 ‐ High 12/31/2016 67%93 Workshop 9/26 with RSC.  Drafting 
ordinance.

In Progress

111 Mare Brook Watershed Project 2 ‐ High 12/31/2016 50%93
Public stakeholder meeting 8/9/2016
DEP/Town Planner bug enclosure test 8/8‐
8/12
Stantec/FB Field work 8/15‐8/19

In Progress

3 Cook's Corner Road Improvements and 
TIF

2 ‐ High 12/31/2016 50%93 Council approved funding for concept 
study.  RFP being drafted for engineering 
services.  On‐going meeting with developers, 
property owners, and stakeholders.  All 
seem on board with development concepts.  
Details to be worked out including TIF and 
other funding.

In Progress

Page 2 of 7



ID   Title Priority Due Date PctDays Current UpdateStatus

70 Riverside Cemetery 2 ‐ High 12/31/2016 25%93 Aug 24. Met with Stephen Langsdorf and 
Kristin Collins.  Kristen is proceeding legally 
to have the court transfer assets to a new 
association.  Discussions continue as to how 
the town will be involved.  Currently looking 
for individuals who are interested in being 
an association board member.

In Progress

35 Committee Coordination 2 ‐ High 12/31/2016 10%93 Need to schedule meeting with committees 
to discuss collaboration.

On Hold

126 Shoreland Stabilization 2 ‐ High 4/1/2017 10%184 Established concept plan and group on for 
project.  Expected start is late fall.  Waiting 
on shoreland mapping from Peter Slovinsky 
(MGS).

In Progress

156 2018‐2022 CIP 2 ‐ High 5/25/2017 25%238 8/1/16 Forms, guidelines & instructions to 
dept heads
9/30/16 project requests to be submitted
10/20/16 TM CIP to FC
3/6/17 FC presents CIP to Council
5/25/17 Council adoption

In Progress

89 Revenues and Fees 2 ‐ High 6/30/2017 45%274 Fee schedule format approved by Town 
Council Nov 2015
Ambulance fees to Finance Committee 
6/16/16, to Council 7/18/16, public hearing 
8/1/16, adopted 8/15/16 TC mtg
Mere Point Wastewater fees to Finance 
Committee 7/21/16, to Council 8/1/16, 
public hearing 8/15/16, adopted 8/15/16.
Clerks' fees currently under review

In Progress

18 Revaluation 2 ‐ High 8/11/2017 33%316 Field work continues.
Revaluation mailing out to urban properties 
this fall as it gets closer to listing those 
properties.

In Progress

Page 3 of 7



ID   Title Priority Due Date PctDays Current UpdateStatus

15 Town Hall Trim Work 2 ‐ High 9/30/2017 25%366 Pre‐bid meeting 9/26/2016.  Three (3) 
companies attended.  Mr. Labrecque, John 
Eldridge, Derek Scrapchansky, John Foster 
attended.  RFP discussion and building walk 
around were executed.  Oct 12th at 2pm is 
bid announcement.

In Progress

37 Frank Wood Bridge 2 ‐ High 12/31/2018 25%823 Sept 12 workshop.  MDOT and Friends of 
FWB responded to Council questions.

In Progress

95 Central Fire Station 2 ‐ High 12/31/2018 15%823 Need to review options to site new station 
per CIP

Requested

3 ‐ Normal

63 BHS Track 3 ‐ Normal 9/1/2016 90%‐28 Town Manager and Superintendent met to 
discuss funding options.  Huntress Sports 
Landscape Architects and Planners has dev

In Progress

102 Furbish Preserve Trails Improvements 3 ‐ Normal 10/1/2016 25%2 Wetland declinations have been completed 
by Stantec and draft permit applications for 
trail construction prepared for later 
submittal to DEP. The town must provide 
evidence that it holds title to all property 
upon which the proposed trails are to be 
constructed at the time of permit submittal 
to DEP. The town is awaiting the U.S. 
Department of the Interior providing it with 
draft deeds for review of the remaining 
parcels.

In Progress

123 PILOT 3 ‐ Normal 12/30/2016 20%92 Researching models used elsewhere.In Progress

151 Inventory of Town Property 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 90%93 Inventory of Town properties provided to 
Town Council.

Council direction required on additional 
steps.

In Progress

Page 4 of 7



ID   Title Priority Due Date PctDays Current UpdateStatus

105 Aquatics Center 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 75%93 Report to be delivered by Sept 30, 2016.  
Report to Council expected in fall of 2016.

In Progress

61 Bus Transportation 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 75%93 Metro Breez expansion to the Town Council 
for consideration.  Met with METRO Exec 
Director 8/22.

In Progress

82 Municipal Aquaculture 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 60%93 Ordinance sent to DMR for review.In Progress

96 Simpson's Point 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 50%93 Waiting on decision from IFW
Need to follow up with IFW.

On Hold

12 TV3 Website, VOD, & Programming 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 50%93 Live stream moved to new service.  Seems 
to be improved.  Continue to monitor and 
evaluate.

In Progress

26 Streetlight Policy and Reduction Plan 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 50%93 Hold pending work on other priorities.  Draft 
of street lighting policy in development.  In 
June met with Larry Bartlett, Bartlett Design 
to review street lighting analysis and policy 
he developed for Freeport.  Discussed policy 
options for Brunswick, Larry agreed to 
review draft policy and provide comments 
to the town.

On Hold

97 Council Rules Committee 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 25%93 Draft of portions as time permits.On Hold

128 Brown Tail Moth 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 20%93 Contacted entomologist and University.
Posted information on website.
Exploring possibility of spraying and 
cooperative contracts.
Obtained informtion from other 
communities.

In Progress

104 Recreation Center Improvements 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 10%93 Capital budget includes funding for planning.In Progress

94 Website Upgrades 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 10%93 Requested not yet authorized.  Requires 
funding.

Requested

Page 5 of 7



ID   Title Priority Due Date PctDays Current UpdateStatus

152 Human Rights Task Force II 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2016 0%93 Council authorized task force to continue 
through 12/31/16.  This would be Phase II.

In Progress

154 Public Tree Committee 3 ‐ Normal 6/30/2017 0%274 Requested.  Requires establishement of 
committte or assignment of tasks to an 
existing commmittee.

Requested

39 Master Plan Implementation Committee 3 ‐ Normal 12/31/2020 25%1554 Walk of Pleasant Street.  Downtown parking 
audit completed.

See MPIC meeting minutes for additional 
details.

In Progress

4 ‐ Low

110 Town Manager Television Show 4 ‐ Low 10/15/2016 25%16 Discussion with School Dept about using 
High School studio for production.  Brief 
meeting to discuss format.  S

Inside Town Hall

In Progress

5 ‐ Defer

58 Multi‐unit apartment inspections 5 ‐ Defer 7/1/2016 75%‐90 Contacted Biddeford Codes Department.  
They have a new position that is funded 
through the budget.

Deferred

32 Solar Installation at Rec Center 5 ‐ Defer 12/31/2016 85%93 New pricing received on 3/2.  
Complications with roof mounting design 
have forced reevaluation.  Scheduling will 
now be difficult for roofers.

Deferred

106 Community Ice 5 ‐ Defer 12/31/2016 10%93 Community Ice believes best site is located 
next to Recreation Center.  July meeting of 
Community Ice is scheduled.

Deferred

144 Property Tax Circuit Breaker 5 ‐ Defer 12/31/2016 10%93 Requested information.Requested

57 Coastal Access 5 ‐ Defer 12/31/2016 10%93 Explore opportunities.Requested

40 VRB Guidelines 5 ‐ Defer 6/30/2017 0%274 Expected to be delayed until completion of 
ZORC process.

Requested

Page 6 of 7



ID   Title Priority Due Date PctDays Current UpdateStatus

147 Cook's Corner Design Standards 5 ‐ Defer 7/1/2017 0%275 Project requested.Requested

141 Climate Change and Sustainability 5 ‐ Defer 7/15/2017 0%289 Project requested.Requested

21 Bike Path Extension 5 ‐ Defer 12/31/2017 10%458 Potential for grant funding to be explored.Deferred

38 Riverwalk 5 ‐ Defer 12/31/2018 10%823 Attempting to coordinate with 
replacement/rehab of Frank Wood Bridge. 
Project is a part of the Bridge Design 
Advisory Committee (DAC) discussions.

Deferred

99 New Meadows Restoration 5 ‐ Defer 12/31/2018 10%823 May call from ACOE asking if Brunswick 
wished to stay on list for potential funding.

Set up meeting with West Bath 
Administrator

Requested

51

Page 7 of 7



Town	of	Brunswick	‐	Completed	Projects
Council	List	‐	Worksheet	‐	By	Prioirty

Thursday, September 29, 2016

1:46:56 PM

ID   Title Priority Pct Current UpdateStatus Comp Date

0 ‐ Required

91 Capital Improvement Plan 2016‐2017 0 ‐ Required 100% Council adoption May 26, 2016Completed 5/26/2016

92 91 Municipal Budget 2016‐2017 0 ‐ Required 100% Council adoption May 26, 2016; School 
budget validation referendum June 14, 2016

Completed 6/14/2016

1 ‐ Now!

145 130 Tax‐Acquired Property 1 ‐ Now! 100% Sold three properties, two by bid and one to 
an abutter.

Completed 9/6/2015

88 BHS Boiler Report 1 ‐ Now! #### Memo presented to Town Council.Completed 3/21/2016

108 Freeport Dispatch Contract 1 ‐ Now! 100% Completed contract negotiations for five 
year extension.  Approved by Town Council.

Completed 8/2/2016

130 Mere Point Property 946 1 ‐ Now! 100% Council voted to sell the property.
Committee Recommendations to Town 
Council for 9/6.

Completed 9/19/2016

2 ‐ High

17 Revenue Ordinance 2 ‐ High 100% Project Complete.
Phase II review all fees.

Completed 11/16/201

5 Brunswick Landing Access (Pine St.) 2 ‐ High #### CompleteCompleted ##########

6 Harbor Management Plan 2 ‐ High #### Project CompleteCompleted ##########

93 Styrofoam Ban 2 ‐ High #### Ban Ordinance adopted by Town Council.Completed 3/21/2016

59 Pleasant and Mill St Property 
Acquisition

2 ‐ High 100% Closed on property on June 24.  
Contacted by MDOT about possible 
intersection improvements.

Completed 6/24/2016

Page 1 of 3



ID   Title Priority Pct Current UpdateStatus Comp Date

118 Performance Evaluations/Reports 2 ‐ High 100% Town of Brunswick Performance Evaluation 
System complete.

Completed 7/1/2016

83 Emerson Station Repairs 2 ‐ High #### Work Complete.  Work started 5/23.Completed 7/25/2016

80 Androscoggin Launch Ramp 2 ‐ High #### Project complete.Completed 8/1/2016

71 89 Mere Point Wastewater District 2 ‐ High 100% New Fees adopted on August 15, 2016 
The town continues to work with all the 
users and provides them information on the 
proposed changes.

Completed 8/15/2016

60 Solarize Brunswick 2 ‐ High 100% Staff working with R&S Committee on 
project close‐out report to Town Council.

Completed 8/31/2016

75 Nancy and Patricia Road Reconstruction 2 ‐ High #### Project is completeCompleted 9/1/2016

117 State Revolving Loan Fund 2 ‐ High #### SRF Loans closed on 9/9/16.Completed 9/9/2016

134 River Rd Culvert Replacement 2 ‐ High #### Project completed on Sept. 19th.Completed 9/19/2016

1 MRRA TIF Requests (CEA) 2 ‐ High 100% Council approved MRRA TIF requests on 
Sept 19, 2016.

Completed 9/19/2016

3 ‐ Normal

67 Chicken Ordinance Amendments 3 ‐ Normal 100% Adopted by Council for consideration and 
adoption.

Completed 2/1/2016

8 Council Rules Update on 
Communications

3 ‐ Normal 100% Council to consider proposed changes at its 
2/1 meeting.
Council adopted on 2/1.

Completed 2/1/2016

45 Social Services Policy 3 ‐ Normal #### Council adopted the policy on April 4, 2016.Completed 4/5/2016

112 89 Ambulance Fees Update 3 ‐ Normal 100% New fees approved by Town Council on 
8/15.

Completed 8/15/2016

64 Human Rights Task Force I 3 ‐ Normal 100% Task Force Report delivered to Town Council 
on 8/15/16

Completed 8/15/2016

Page 2 of 3



ID   Title Priority Pct Current UpdateStatus Comp Date

65 Complete Streets Policy 3 ‐ Normal 100% Adopted by Town Council August 15, 2016

Draft sent to BBPAC for review. Expected to 
be provided to Town Council for 
consideration at its August 15th meeting.

Completed 8/16/2016

5 ‐ Defer

31 Downeaster Idling 5 ‐ Defer 100% Layover facility is operational.  Should 
substantially reduce out door idling.

Completed 9/15/2016

27

Page 3 of 3



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - B 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - C 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 



 
 

 
MANAGER’S REPORT - D 
NO BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



 
 

MANAGER’S REPORT - E 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
	

OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	
	

MEMORANDUM	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 September	29,	2016	
	
SUBJECT:	 Graham	Road	Landfill	
	
	
	
The	Town	has	operated	the	Graham	Road	Landfill	since	1984.		The	facility	is	licensed	by	the	Maine	
Department	of	Environmental	Protection	(“MDEP”).		Basically,	there	are	two	licenses	–	one,	issued	
by	the	MDEP	Bureau	of	Remediation	and	Waste	Management,	governs	the	operation	of	the	landfill	
and	a	second,	issued	by	the	MDEP	Bureau	of	Land	and	Water	Quality,	governs	the	discharge	of	
wastewater	to	the	Androscoggin	River.			
	
As	reported	in	2014,	the	Town	is	facing	substantial	challenges	to	the	continued	operation	of	the	
landfill.		Specifically,	the	Town	must	resolve	both	wastewater	and	groundwater	issues.		It	has	been	
working	with	its	consultant,	Woodard	and	Curran,	to	explore	alternatives.		Unfortunately,	all	of	the	
technologies	and	methods	reviewed	appear	to	be	cost	prohibitive,	meaning	that	the	Town	must	
consider	an	accelerated	closure	of	the	landfill.	
	
In	August	2014,	representatives	from	the	Town	met	with	then	MDEP	Commissioner	Aho	to	discuss	
the	Town’s	options	as	the	Department	had	suggested	that	the	Town	move	to	close	the	landfill.		
MDEP	also	suggested	that	the	Town	would	be	eligible	for	closure	reimbursement	if	the	landfill	were	
closed	by	December	2015.		In	the	2014	meeting	with	the	Commissioner,	we	indicated	that	we	did	
not	believe	we	could	close	the	landfill	that	quickly.		We	requested	that	the	law	governing	eligibility	
be	amended	so	that	Brunswick	could	be	eligible	for	reimbursement	if	it	closed	the	facility	after	
2015.		We	requested	that	the	Town	be	given	at	least	five	years	to	close	the	landfill	as	this	would	
allow	us	to	properly	plan	for	the	closure	and	use	some	of	the	landfill	capacity	for	which	the	Town	
had	paid	to	provide.		Commissioner	Aho	indicated	that	the	Department	had	already	planned	to	
submit	a	bill	that	would	extend	the	eligibility	period	for	closure.		We	agreed	to	support	that	bill	and	
did,	in	fact,	testify	on	behalf	of	the	bill,	which	passed	in	2015.		We	also	believed	Commissioner	Aho	
agreed	to	our	five	year	timeline.		We	understood	that	clock	would	start	running	after	the	amended	
law	became	effective	and	after	Woodard	and	Curran	had	completed	a	solid	waste	alternative	
analysis	for	the	Town.	
	
The	completion	of	the	solid	waste	alternative	report	has	been	delayed.		Earlier	this	year,	we	learned	
that	others	at	the	MDEP	had	a	different	recollection	of	what	was	agreed	to	at	the	August	2014	
meeting.		Essentially,	they	believed	in	order	to	be	eligible	for	the	reimbursement,	we	would	need	to	
prove	there	were	no	cost–effective	solutions	to	the	groundwater	issue	and	further,	that	the	five	
year	clock	had	started	in	August	2014.		As	this	was	not	our	understanding,	we	requested	a	meeting	
with	the	current	MDEP	Commissioner,	Paul	Mercer.		That	meeting	took	place	on	September	13th.		
Commissioner	Mercer	assured	us	of	the	Department’s	willingness	to	work	with	us	to	accomplish	
closure	on	a	five	year	schedule.		A	tentative	schedule	was	provided	to	the	Commissioner;	a	copy	is	
attached.		I	have	also	attached	the	memo	I	provided	to	the	Council	in	2014,	as	it	more	fully	explains	



the	groundwater	and	wastewater	issues.	
	
Woodard	and	Curran	is	now	completing	the	solid	waste	alternatives	report.		It	will	describe	
different	solid	waste	alternatives	it	has	explored.		Very	likely,	it	will	conclude	that	the	there	are	no	
cost	effective	solutions	to	the	groundwater	and	wastewater	issues.		While	we	are	still	in	discussions	
with	MDEP,	it	appears	that	the	Town	will	soon	have	to	move	toward	a	plan	to	close	the	landfill	and	
transition	to	other	waste	disposal	options.	
	
	
	
	
	
	
Attachments	
	



COMMITMENT & INTEGRITY 
DRIVE RESULTS 
 

41 Hutchins Drive 
Portland, Maine 04102 
www.woodardcurran.com 

T 800.426.4262 
T 207.774.2112 
F 207.774.6635 

 

MEMORANDUM 
TO: John Foster, P.E., Town of Brunswick 

FROM: Randy Tome, PE & Lauren Swett, PE 

DATE: August 9, 2016 

RE: Graham Road Landfill Brunswick – Draft Schedule 

  

The following draft schedule of the required steps is provided for the Graham Road Landfill. We have 
assumed that closure of the landfill will occur in 5 years, allowing for 4 years for additional waste 
placement starting in 2017 and one year for landfill closure in 2021. 

1. Develop Master Schedule for Landfill  8/9/16 

2. Meet with Commissioner to Discuss Timeline 8/15/16-9/1/16 

3. Negotiate SOC with DEP (Include Solid Waste, Wastewater, and 
Closure Departments) 

9/1/16-12/1/16 

4. Amend Town’s Solid Waste Ordinance (Solid Waste Acceptance 
Practices, Future Collection & Disposal, Fees) 

9/1/16-12/1/16 

5. Solicit for MSW to Fill Landfill 12/1/16-1/2/17 

6. Develop Accelerated Waste Placement Cell Development Plans 12/1/16-2/1/17 

7. Amend Operations & Maintenance Manual for Accelerated Waste 
Placement as Required (Staff, Equipment, Placement Procedure, 
Daily Cover requirements) 

12/1/16-2/1/17 

8. Accept Waste  2/1/17-4/1/21 

9. Develop Final Closure Plan  2/1/19-8/1/19 

10. DEP Final Closure Plan Review and Approval   8/2/19-3/1/20 

11. Develop Post-Landfill Solid Waste Management Plan for Town 1/1/20-8/1/20 

12. Develop Final Closure Design Documents  3/2/20-9/2/20 

13. Bidding for Solid Waste Collection and Disposal 8/1/20-10/1/20 

14. DEP Final Closure Approval  1/1/21 

15. Construction Bidding  1/2/21-5/1/21 

16. Construction  5/1/21-11/15/21 

17. Certification report 11/16/21-3/31/22 

 



MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:  Town Council 
  Town of Brunswick, Maine 
 
FROM:  John Eldridge 
  Finance Director  
 
DATE:  June 16, 2014 
 
RE:  Graham Road Landfill 
 
 
The Town of Brunswick has operated a solid waste landfill at Graham Road since 1984.  The landfill is 
licensed by the Maine Department of Environmental Protection (“DEP”) and operates under a variety of 
environmental laws and regulations.  Essentially the Town has two DEP licenses – one, issued by the 
DEP Bureau of Remediation and Waste Management, governs the operation of the landfill and a second, 
issued by the DEP Bureau of Land and Water Quality, governs the discharge of wastewater to the 
Androscoggin River.  Continued operation of the landfill requires renewal of the licenses, typically five 
year terms, as well as continued compliance with the laws and regulations. 
 
Wastewater Issues 
 
The landfill has a series of three lagoons designed to collect and treat leachate and runoff before 
discharging that effluent to the Androscoggin River.  The landfill’s wastewater discharge license, issued 
in 2004, expired in November 2009.  The Town applied for a renewal of that license in December 2009.  
For several years prior to the expiration of the license, and continuing beyond the expiration of the 
license, the Town has worked with the DEP to comply with, or seek waivers from, certain discharge 
parameters set by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”).  Of particular concern is 
the concentration of ammonia in the wastewater being discharged.  Late in 2010 the Town learned the 
waivers it sought, as specifically identified in the 2004 license, were not available.  In fact, according to 
the EPA, the window of opportunity for these waivers had closed in 2001. 
 
It must be mentioned that there is universal agreement that the Town’s failure to meet the ammonia 
standard is not a water quality issue.  It has been estimated that the landfill discharges the equivalent of 
3.5 gallons of ammonia per day, with five months averaging less than one gallon per day.  Other facilities 
licensed to discharge wastewater to the Androscoggin River have limits many times greater.  It seems 
simply to be a matter of different rules for different operations, with the rules governing solid waste 
landfills quite limiting.  Many have agreed that this standard should not apply to Brunswick’s Graham 
Road Landfill.  Some have gone so far as to describe the situation as “bad law” and “bad bureaucracy.” 
 
In 2012 the Town and DEP agreed to cooperate on developing a solution to the wastewater issues, and, 
late that year, constructed an experimental treatment facility (aka “pilot plant”), which the Town and DEP 
continued to operate through the spring of 2014.  While the DEP has yet to release its official report on 
the pilot plant’s effectiveness, the results appear mixed.  The plant did not consistently reduce ammonia 
concentrations to levels that would comply with the EPA standard and the Town and DEP have had very 
preliminary conversations about next steps.  One possibility is the construction of another pilot plant to 
continue testing.  However, DEP’s position has been, and continues to be, that the Town must ultimately 
comply with the EPA standard.  Preliminary engineering estimates for the construction of an on-site 
treatment facility are in the range of one to two million dollars.  Other treatment options to consider 



include trucking, or the construction of a pipeline, to transport wastewater to the Brunswick Sewer 
District. 
 
As DEP feels constrained by the EPA regulations, the Town has also attempted to get relief at the federal 
level.  Unfortunately, those efforts have not been fruitful.  Again, despite nearly universal agreement that 
this standard should not apply Brunswick’s landfill, there seems to be a universal inability to get relief 
from the standard. 
 
Groundwater Issues 
 
Brunswick is required to maintain groundwater monitoring wells (currently twelve) at the landfill.  While 
the Town awaited the DEP’s final report evaluating the effectiveness of the pilot plant, it learned that 
DEP’s Remediation and Waste Bureau had concerns about groundwater contamination trends at the 
landfill.  To better understand the groundwater issues, the Town, through its consulting engineer, 
Woodard and Curran, has had conversations with DEP staff.  According to Woodard and Curran, the solid 
waste regulations define contamination as the downgradient wells having a “statistically significant” 
increase from background wells. This situation appears evident at Graham Road landfill in at least some 
of the downgradient wells.  Interestingly, the groundwater quality at the Graham Road landfill is actually 
quite good on a relative basis, as in 2013, only 3 parameters (Arsenic, Iron and Manganese) exceeded 
state and federal drinking water standards.  While strict, the DEP definition of groundwater contamination 
at a landfill means that the Town is eligible for closure funding from the State’s Landfill Remediation and 
Closure fund.  The knowledge that the landfill continues to be a financial burden and the potential for 
reimbursement led DEP staff to suggest that the Town consider closing the facility.  It should be 
emphasized, however, that DEP is not requiring closure of the landfill.  DEP states that it is very open to 
discussing all possible options related to the landfill's future. 
 
Summary and Recommendation 
 
Over the past three years, the Town has conceded that without relief from the wastewater discharge 
requirements, expensive treatment options would require the Town to consider a premature closure of the 
landfill.  Currently the Town does not have sufficient funds to close the facility so DEP’s recent 
communication about the potential for financial assistance presents an opportunity.  However, should the 
Town wish to pursue this option, time is of the essence.  A closure would require the development and 
approval of a closure plan, and time to complete the closure itself.  We are told that under current law, 
closure would need to be accomplished by December 2015 in order to be eligible for reimbursement.  
While previous legislatures have extended the eligibility dates, there are no guarantees that the 2015 
deadline will be extended. 
 
Even if the Town could obtain relief from the ammonia standards, the landfill continues to be a costly 
operation.  Further, new standards will continue to be promulgated which will continue to cause 
uncertainty with each license renewal.  Given the possibility of closure reimbursement, the Town should 
consider establishing a task force to: 
 

 explore the closure option;  
 evaluate future solid waste disposal options; 
 consider accelerating the acceptance of waste in order to maximize tipping fee revenue as another 

potential revenue source to fund closure; 
 work with our legislative and congressional delegation to obtain relief from the regulations and to 

obtain funding for potential solutions, including closure. 
 



 
 

 
ITEM 106 
BACK UP MATERIALS 

















 
 

 
ITEM 107 
BACK UP MATERIALS 







 
 

 
ITEM 108 
BACK UP MATERIALS 







 
 

 
ITEM 109 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
	

OFFICE	OF	THE	TOWN	MANAGER	
	

MEMORANDUM	
	
TO:	 Town	Council	
	
FROM:	 Derek	Scrapchansky	
	 Assistant	Town	Manager	
	
DATE:	 September	29,	2016	
	
SUBJECT:	 Browntail	Moth	
	
	
	
On	Wednesday,	September	28,	a	community	panel	discussion	on	browntail	moth	mitigation	in	mid‐
coast	Maine	was	held	at	Curtis	Memorial	Library.		The	event	was	well	attended.		Guest	lecturers	
provided	an	overview	of	the	current	browntail	moth	situation,	discussed	the	impact	on	trees	and	
humans,	and	provided	recommendations	for	control	and	mitigation	for	infested	areas.	The	panel	of	
guest	lecturers	included:	

1. Charlene	Donahue:	Forest	Entomologist,	Maine	Forest	Service,	Department	of	
Agriculture,	Conservation	&	Forestry	

2. Jeff	Gillis:	Well‐Tree,	Inc.	Jeff	is	a	licensed	arborist	specializing	in	preventative	care	
of	trees	and	shrubs	

3. Aaron	Koch,	Pharm	D,	BCPS:	Clinical	Pharmacy	Coordinator,	Mid	Coast	Hospital	

Following	presentations,	the	panel	answered	questions	about	handling	precautions,	control	
techniques,	environmental	hazards	with	pesticides,	and	community	health	concerns	due	to	
exposure.			

It	was	apparent	that	a	simple	solution	does	not	exist	and	current	control	measures	involve	detailed	
planning,	cooperation,	collaboration,	and	resources.		Attached	is	a	map	that	depicts	the	current	
level	of	infestation	in	our	region.		The	Town	will	continue	to	investigate	control	options.		

Educational	material	and	information	can	be	found	at:	
http://www.maine.gov/dacf/mfs/forest_health/invasive_threats/browntail_moth_info.htm	

	
	
Attachments	





 
 

 
ITEM 110 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 
Parks & Recreation Department 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO: 
 
 
FROM: 
 
 
DATE: 
 
SUBJECT: 
 
 

 
Brunswick Town Council 
John Eldridge, Town Manager 
 
Tom Farrell, Director of Parks and Recreation 
Jay Astle, Parks and Facilities Manager 
 
September 29, 2016 
 
Pursuit of Tree City USA Recognition 
 
 

 

Brunswick’s pursuit of Tree City USA recognition is a topic that has been discussed by the 
community for many years. The Town’s 2002 Parks, Recreation and Open Space Plan reflect 
two recommendations pertaining to the topic. Action Item #7 in the plan states “Appoint a Tree 
Committee to replace the existing ad hoc tree committee to expand the effectiveness of the Parks 
and Recreation Department’s efforts in the care and management of the Town’s street and park 
trees”. Action Item #59 states “Apply for Tree City USA designation”. 

 
SUMMARY 

Tree City USA is a national program of the Arbor Day Foundation that offers recognition to 
communities that exhibit sound and effective management of their public trees. Since its 
establishment in 1976, more than 3,400 communities have achieved this status (19 in Maine).  

For acceptance into the program, a community must meet the following standards: 

1. A municipal entity explicitly responsible for public tree care. This can be staff, a 
department, a committee, or some combination thereof. 

2. A tree care ordinance. This sets the policy and offers guidance for planting, maintaining 
and removing trees from streets, parks and other public spaces as well as activities that 
are required or prohibited. 



3. A tree program with a budget of at least $2 per capita. This ensures that there are 
adequate financial resources to care for public trees.  

4. An Arbor Day Proclamation and Observance. An annual event or ceremony to 
celebrate the importance of trees in the community. 

At this time, Brunswick satisfies the first (#1) and third (#3) standards. However, Tree City USA 
strongly recommends that communities have a Tree Committee to support staff members in their 
public tree program responsibilities. Brunswick currently has no such committee. 

Many of the requirements of a Tree City USA community are currently being met via the parks 
and recreation department’s normal approach to management of Brunswick’s tree resources. 
Instituting a tree care ordinance would provide clarity and transparency to our current practices 
and increase public awareness of the town’s tree assets. Furthermore, the creation of a Tree 
Committee could provide additional assistance with tree-related tasks as necessary. 
 

ANTICIPATED COSTS / REVENUES 

There is no fee to apply for Tree City USA recognition, nor is there one for annual renewal. 
There are nominal costs for marketing and publicity materials (signs, flags, etc.). The designation 
would require the Town, at a minimum, to continue its current level of spending for our tree 
program to ensure that we annually meet the $2 per capita expenditure obligation. We currently 
spend $2.24 per capita. 

The National Arbor Day Foundation offers grants to support the programs of Tree City USA 
communities, and the National Forest Service and the Maine Forest Service (through Project 
Canopy) look favorably upon Tree City USA communities when awarding their grants. 
 

REQUEST 

The Parks & Recreation Department respectfully requests that should the Town Council wish to 
further explore the implications of Brunswick achieving Tree City USA status that it 
recommends a review of the program by the Recreation Commission. With Council 
authorization, the Commission would report back in November regarding the implications of any 
additional impacts as they relate to departmental resources that would be required to fully 
implement the program.  

Outstanding tasks to be completed prior to the Town applying for this designation would include 
review and endorsement by the Recreation Commission and Town Council, assessment of any 
additional costs associated with fully implementing the program, the creation of a Tree 
Committee, the adoption of a Tree Care Ordinance, and a Town Council proclamation for an 
annual observance of Arbor Day. Once these steps have been taken the town would be in a 
strong position to submit a compelling application for Tree City USA status. 

 

Background information about our existing tree program and Tree City USA is attached. 



Attachment 1 
Pursuit of Tree City USA Recognition 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 
Parks & Recreation Department 

 
 

Community Forest & Tree Care Program 
 
 
Public Tree Program 
The Public Tree Program provides for the management and care of the Town’s street and park 
trees. The Parks Department works to maintain and improve Brunswick’s community trees 
through preventative maintenance pruning, planting of new trees, care of existing trees, and 
removal of tree hazards. 
 
Brunswick completed a street tree inventory in June 2012 with 2,732 trees inventoried within its 
streetscapes. The study found 89 species representing 43 genera. The genus maple (Acer) 
comprised 26% of the tree population; followed by pine (Pinus), 23%; oak (Quercus), 15%; elm 
(Ulmus), 4%; spruce (Picea), 3%; ash (Fraxinus), 3%; arborvitae (Thuja), 3%; hemlock (Tsuga), 
3%; linden (Tilia), 3%; and apple (Malus), 3%.  
 
Tree Pruning and Tree Removal 
The Town Arborist makes periodic inspections of public trees along Town-maintained streets 
and in public parks. Pruning and removal work is scheduled based upon these inspections, as 
well as reported public tree concerns. 
 
Although some ground level and low level tree work is performed by Parks maintenance 
personnel, most aerial pruning and removal work is performed by tree care companies contracted 
by the Town. 

The Town of Brunswick strives to maintain public safety in municipal parks and streets from 
potentially hazardous trees. The Parks and Recreation Department will strive to eliminate, in a 
timely fashion, any tree deemed hazardous. 

Tree Planting 
The Brunswick Parks and Recreation Department has implemented the planting of more than 
370 trees since 1999 in various street and park locations throughout Brunswick. Over 200 of 
these trees were funded by grants from Project Canopy and the Maine Forest Service, and by 
donations from other sources.  
 
In its selections of trees, the Parks and Recreation Department strives to plant and maintain a 
diverse mix of tree species. This diversity will bolster the resilience of Brunswick’s public trees 
if faced with insect or disease outbreaks. 



Attachment 2 
Pursuit of Tree City USA Recognition 

TREE CITY USA 
 

Benefits of the Tree City USA Program 
 

 Reduce costs for energy, stormwater management, and erosion control. Trees yield 
3–5 times their cost in overall benefits to the city. 

 Cut energy consumption by up to 25%. Studies indicate that as few as three additional 
trees planted around each building in the United States could save $2 billion annually in 
energy costs. 

 Boost property values across your community. Properly placed trees can increase 
property values from 7–20%. Buildings in wooded areas rent more quickly, and tenants 
stay longer. 

 Build stronger ties to your neighborhood and community. Trees and green spaces 
directly correlate to greater connections to neighbors. 

 Honor your community and demonstrate your commitment to a healthier 
environment through Arbor Day celebrations and Tree City USA recognition. 

 Benefit from a framework for action provided by the four core standards. Many 
communities use the Tree City USA standards as a way to begin caring for city trees. 
Others regularly enhance urban forest management through improved ordinances, 
innovative programs and increased emphasis on planting and care. 

 Educate people living in your city about the value of trees and the importance of 
sustainable tree management. Annual participation as a Tree City USA community 
provides this opportunity and makes it easier to engage individuals and organizations 
throughout the city. Tree City USA status can also create a strong working relationship 
with your state forestry agency and other groups. 

 Improve community pride. Participation in the Tree City USA program helps residents 
feel good about the place they live and work. Annual recognition shows visitors and 
prospective residents that trees, conservation, and the environment are important to your 
community. 

 More funds to grow your program. Grants up to $20,000 are available for Tree City 
USA communities for projects such as tree planting in low- to mid-income 
neighborhoods, bicycling watering programs, creation of community fruit orchards, and 
tree care education programs. The Tree City USA designation also earns critical points 
with federal and state funding opportunities. 

 

Source:  https://www.arborday.org/programs/treecityusa 



Attachment 3 
Pursuit of Tree City USA Recognition 

TREE CITY USA 

Four Standards for Tree City USA Recognition 

Standard 1 
A Tree Board or Department 

Someone must be legally responsible for the care of all trees on city- or town-owned 
property. By delegating tree care decisions to a professional forester, arborist, city 
department, citizen-led tree board or some combination, city leaders determine who will 
perform necessary tree work. The public will also know who is accountable for decisions 
that impact community trees. Often, both professional staff and an advisory tree board are 
established, which is a good goal for most communities. 

The formation of a tree board often stems from a group of citizens. In some cases a 
mayor or city officials have started the process. Either way, the benefits are immense. 
Involving residents and business owners creates wide awareness of what trees do for the 
community and provides broad support for better tree care. 
 

Standard 2 
A Tree Care Ordinance 

A basic public tree care ordinance forms the foundation of a city’s tree care program. It 
provides an opportunity to set good policy and back it with the force of law when 
necessary. 

A key section of a qualifying ordinance is one that establishes the tree board or forestry 
department—or both—and gives one of them the responsibility for public tree care (as 
reflected in Standard 1). It should also assign the task of crafting and implementing a plan 
of work or for documenting annual tree care activities. 

Ideally, the ordinance will also provide clear guidance for planting, maintaining and 
removing trees from streets, parks and other public spaces as well as activities that are 
required or prohibited. Beyond that, the ordinance should be flexible enough to fit the 
needs and circumstances of the particular community. 

For tips and a checklist of important items to consider in writing or improving a tree 
ordinance, see Tree City USA Bulletin #9. 

 

http://shop.arborday.org/product.aspx?zpid=687


Attachment 3 
Pursuit of Tree City USA Recognition 

Standard 3 
A Community Forestry Program with an Annual Budget of at Least $2 Per Capita 

City trees provide many benefits—clean air, clean water, shade and beauty to name a 
few—but they also require an investment to remain healthy and sustainable. By providing 
support at or above the $2 per capita minimum, a community demonstrates its 
commitment to grow and tend these valuable public assets. Budgets and expenditures 
require planning and accountability, which are fundamental to the long-term health of the 
tree canopy and the Tree City USA program. 

To meet this standard each year, the community must document at least $2 per capita 
toward the planting, care and removal of city trees—and the planning efforts to make 
those things happen. At first this may seem like an impossible barrier to some 
communities. However, a little investigation usually reveals that more than this amount is 
already being spent on tree care. If not, this may signal serious neglect that will cost far 
more in the long run. In such a case, working toward Tree City USA recognition can be 
used to reexamine the community's budget priorities and redirect funds to properly care 
for its tree resources before it is too late. 

 
Standard 4 
An Arbor Day Observance and Proclamation 

An effective program for community trees would not be complete without an annual 
Arbor Day ceremony. Citizens join together to celebrate the benefits of community trees 
and the work accomplished to plant and maintain them. By passing and reciting an 
official Arbor Day proclamation, public officials demonstrate their support for the 
community tree program and complete the requirements for becoming a Tree City USA! 

This is the least challenging—and probably most enjoyable—standard to meet. An Arbor 
Day celebration can be simple and brief or an all-day or all-week observation. It can 
include a tree planting event, tree care activities or an award ceremony that honors 
leading tree planters. For children, Arbor Day may be their only exposure to the green 
world or a springboard to discussions about the complex issue of environmental quality. 

The benefits of Arbor Day go far beyond the shade and beauty of new trees for the next 
generation. Arbor Day is a golden opportunity for publicity and to educate homeowners 
about proper tree care. Utility companies can join in to promote planting small trees 
beneath power lines or being careful when digging. Fire prevention messaging can also 
be worked into the event, as can conservation education about soil erosion or the need to 
protect wildlife habitat. 

Source:  https://www.arborday.org/programs/treecityusa 



 
 

Attachment 4 
Pursuit of Tree City USA Status 

TREE CITY USA 

Sample Ordinance 

 

 
 
 
 
 
The sample ordinance was designed for use in 
Midwestern communities of average pop-
ulation. The ordinance that your community 
ultimately develops should be designed to fit 
its specific needs. 

SAMPLE 
CITY 

TREE ORDINANCE 
Be it ordained by the City Commission of 
the City of: 
(City) ________________________________  
(State) ____________________________   
 
Section 1. Definitions 
Street trees: "Street trees" are herein de-
fined as trees, shrubs, bushes, and all other 
woody vegetation on land lying between 
property lines on either side of all streets, 
avenues, or ways within the City. 
Park Trees: "Park trees" are herein defined as 
trees, shrubs, bushes and all other woody 
vegetation in public parks having individual 
names, and all areas owned by the City, or to 
which the public has free access as a park. 
 
Section 2. Creation and Establishment of a 
City Tree Board 
There is hereby created and established a City 
Tree Board for the City of: 
(City) ________________________________  
(State) ________________________________  
which shall consist of five members, citizens 
and residents of this city, who shall be 
appointed by the mayor with the approval 
of the Commission. 
 
Section 3. Term of Office 
The term of the five persons to be appointed by 
the mayor shall be three years except that 
the term of two of the members appointed 
to the first board shall be for only one year 
and the term of two members of the first 
board shall be for two years. In the event that a 
vacancy shall occur during the term of any 
member, his successor shall be appointed for 
the unexpired portion of the term. 
 
Section 4. Compensation 
Members of the board shall serve without 
compensation. 
 
Section 5, Duties and Responsibilities 
It shall be the responsibility of the Board to 
study, investigate, council and develop 
and/or update annually, and administer a 
written plan for the care, preservation, pruning, 
planting, replanting, removal or disposition  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
of trees and shrubs in parks, along streets and in 
other public areas. Such plan will be presented 
annually to the City Commission and upon 
their acceptance and approval shall constitute 
the official comprehensive city tree plan for the  
City of: 
(City) ________________________________  
(State)________________________________  
The Board, when requested by the City 
Commission, shall consider, investigate, 
make finding, report and recommend upon any 
special matter of question coming within the 
scope of its work. 
 
Section 6. Operation 
The Board shall choose its own officers, 
make its own rules and regulations and 
keep a journal of its proceedings. A majority 
of the members shall be a quorum for the 
transaction of business. 
 
Section 7. Street Tree Species to be Planted  
The following list constitutes the official 
Street Tree species for: 
(City) ________________________________  
(State)________________________________  
No species other than those included in this 
list may be planted as Street Trees without 
written permission of the City Tree Board. 

 
* Please note: The above species are offered as 
size-class examples only and may not be 
suitable for planting in your area. Please 
check with local sources to develop a 
species list for your area. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Section 8. Spacing 
The spacing of Street Trees will be in ac-
cordance with the three species size classes 
listed in Section 7 of this ordinance, and no 
trees may be planted closer together than the 
following: Small Trees, 30 feet; Medium Trees, 
40 feet; and Large Trees, 50 feet; except in 
special plantings designed or approved by a 
landscape architect. 
 
Section 9. Distance from Curb and Sidewalk  
The distance trees may be planted from 
curbs or curblines and sidewalks will be in 
accordance with the three species size classes 
listed in Section 7 of this ordinance, and no 
trees may be planted closer to any curb or 
sidewalk than the following: Small Trees, 2 
feet; Medium Trees, 3 feet; and Large Trees, 
4 feet. 
 
Section 10. Distance from Street Corners 
and Fireplugs 
No Street Tree shall be planted closer than 35 
feet of any street corner, measured from the 
point of nearest intersecting curbs or curblines. 
No Street Tree shall be planted closer than 10 
feet of any fireplug. 
 
Section 11. Utilities 
No Street Trees other than those species 
listed as Small Trees in Section 7 of this 
ordinance may be planted under or within 10 
lateral feet of any overhead utility wire, or 
over or within 5 lateral feet of any underground 
water line, sewer line, transmission line or 
other utility. 
 
Section 12. Public Tree Care 
The City shall have the right to plant, prune, 
maintain and remove trees, plants and 
shrubs within the lines of all streets, alleys, 
avenues, lanes, squares and public grounds, as 
may be necessary to insure public safety or to 
preserve or enhance the symmetry and beauty of 
such public grounds. 
The City Tree Board may remove or cause or 
order to be removed, any tree or part 
thereof which is in an unsafe condition or 
which by reason of its nature is injurious to 
sewers, electric power lines, gas lines, water 
lines, or other public improvements, or is 
affected with any injurious fungus, insect or 
other pest. This Section does not prohibit the 
planting of Street Trees by adjacent 
property owners providing that the selec-
tion and location of said trees is in accord-
ance with Sections 7 through 11 of this 
ordinance. 
 

SMALL 
TREES 

MEDIUM 
TREES 

LARGE 
TREES 

Apricot 
Crabapple, 

Flowering 
(sp) 

Golden Rain 
Tree 

Hawthorne (sp.) 
Pear, Bradford 
Redbud 
Soapberry 
Lilac, Jap. Tree 
Peach, 

Flowering  
Plum, Purpleleaf 
Serviceberry 
 

Ash, Green 
Hackberry 
Honeylocust 

(thornless) 
Linden or 

Basswood 
(sp.) 

Mulberry, Red 
(fruitless, male) 
Oak, English 
Oak, Red 
Pagodatree, 

Japanese 
Pecan 
Birch, River 
Osageorange 

(Male, 
thornless) 

Persimmon 
Poplar, White 
Sassafras 

Coffeetree, 
Kentucky 

Maple, Silver  
Maple, Sugar 
Oak, Bur 
Sycamore 
Sycamore, 

London 
plantree 

Cottonwood 
(Cottonless, 
male) 



 
 

Attachment 4 
Pursuit of Tree City USA Status 

Section 13. Tree Topping 
It shall be unlawful as a normal practice for any 
person, firm, or city department to top any 
Street Tree, Park Tree, or other tree on public 
property. Topping is defined as the severe 
cutting back of limbs to stubs larger than three 
inches in diameter within the tree's crown 
to such a degree so as to remove the normal 
canopy and disfigure the tree. Trees severely 
damaged by storms or other causes, or certain 
trees under utility wires or other 
obstructions where other pruning practices 
are impractical may be exempted from this 
ordinance at the determination of the City Tree 
Board. 
 
Section 14. Pruning, Corner Clearance  
Every owner of any tree overhanging any street 
or right-of-way within the City shall prune 
the branches so that such branches shall not 
obstruct the light from any street lamp or 
obstruct the view of any street intersection and 
so that there shall be a clear space of eight 
feet (8') above the surface of the street or 
sidewalk. Said owners shall remove all 
dead, diseased or dangerous trees, or broken 
or decayed limbs which constitute a menace 
to the safety of the public. The City shall 
have the right to prune any tree or shrub on 
private property when it interferes with the 
proper spread of light along the street from a 
street light or interferes with visibility of 
any traffic control device or sign. 
 
Section 15. Dead or Diseased Tree Removal 
on Private Property 
The City shall have the right to cause the 
removal of any dead or diseased trees on 
private property within the city, when such 
trees constitute a hazard to life and prop-
erty, or harbor insects or disease which con-
stitute a potential threat to other trees within the 
city. The City Tree Board will notify in 
writing the owners of such trees. Removal 
shall be done by said owners at their own 
expense within sixty days after the date of 
service of notice. In the event of failure of 
owners to comply with such provisions, the 
City shall have the authority to remove such 
trees and charge the cost of removal on the 
owners’ property tax notice. 
 
Section 16. Removal of Stumps 
All stumps of street and park trees shall be 
removed below the surface of the ground so 
that the top of the stump shall not project above 
the surface of the ground. 
 
Section 17. Interference with City Tree 
Board 
It shall be unlawful for any person to pre-
vent, delay or interfere with the City Tree 
Board, or any of its agents, while engaging in  
 
 
 
 

and about the planting, cultivating, 
mulching, pruning, spraying, or removing of 
any Street Trees, Park Trees, or trees on 
private grounds, as authorized in this 
ordinance. 
 
Section 18. Arborists License and Bond 
It shall be unlawful for any person or firm to 
engage in the business or occupation of 
pruning, treating, or I en-loving sueet or paik 
trees within the City without first applying 
for and procuring a license. The license fee 
shall be $25 annually in advance; provided, 
however, that no license shall be required of 
any public service company or City employee 
doing such work in the pursuit of their 
public service endeavors. Before any license 
shall be issued, each applicant shall first file 
evidence of possession of liability insurance 
in the minimum amounts of $50,000 for 
bodily injury and $100,000 property 
damage indemnifying the City or any 
person injured or damaged resulting from 
the pursuit of such endeavors as herein 
described. 
 
Section 19. Review by City Commission  
The City Commission shall have the right to 
review the conduct, acts and decisions of the 
City Tree Board. Any person may appeal from 
any ruling or order of the City Tree Board 
to the City Commission who may hear the 
matter and make final decision.  
 
Section 20. Penalty 
Any person violating any provision of this 
ordinance shall be, upon conviction or a 
plea of guilty, subject to a fine not to ex-
ceed $_________________. 



Attachment 5 
Pursuit of Tree City USA Recognition 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 
Parks & Recreation Department 

 
 

 
Calculation of Per Capita Spending for Brunswick 

 
 
 
Town of Brunswick Community Forest and Tree Care Program 

 

 

1 Spending amounts are FY 2016-17 Budget figures except Maintenance Staff which is an estimate of 
annual expenses. 
 

   
  FY 16-17 Comment 
Town Arborist  $     14,754   25% of Parks & Facilities Manager's time  
Contracted Services  $     20,400   Removal, pruning, stump grinding  
Maintenance Staff 1  $       8,049   Removal, pruning, planting, relocating, mulching, watering  
New Trees  $          400   Two new trees  
Misc. Tree Expenses  $       1,725   Mulch, topsoil, flagging, tools, fertilizer, licensing  

TOTAL  $     45,328  $2.24 per capita 
   
 
Min. Amount Required 
by Tree City USA 

  
 $     40,560 

 
2% per capita, based on Brunswick’s population of 
20,278 (Census 2010). 



Attachment 6 
Pursuit of Tree City USA Recognition 

TREE CITY USA 

 
Sample Proclamation of 
  

Whereas, In 1872, J. Sterling Morton proposed to the Nebraska Board of 
Agriculture that a special day be set aside for the planting of 
trees, and 
 

Whereas, this holiday, called Arbor Day, was first observed with the planting of 
more than a million trees in Nebraska, and 
 

Whereas, Arbor Day is now observed throughout the nation and the world, and 
 
Whereas, trees can reduce the erosion of our precious topsoil by wind and 

water, cut heating and cooling costs, moderate the temperature, clean the air, 
produce life-giving oxygen, and provide habitat for wildlife, and 
 

Whereas, trees are a renewable resource giving us paper, wood for our 
homes, fuel for our fires and countless other wood products, and 

 
Whereas, trees in our city increase property values, enhance the economic vitality 

of business areas, and beautify our community, and 
 
Whereas, trees, wherever they are planted, are a source of joy and 

spiritual renewal.  

 

Now, therefore  I, ____________________________________________, Mayor in the City of 

______________________________________________, do hereby proclaim 

________________________________________ as Arbor Day in the City of 

___________________________________, and I urge all citizens to celebrate  

Arbor Day and to support efforts to protect our trees and woodlands, and 

 
Further, I urge all citizens to plant trees to gladden the heart and promote the well-

being of this and future generations. 
 

Dated this _________________________________ day of _____________________ 
 
 

Mayor _________________________________________________________ 



Attachment 7 
Pursuit of Tree City USA Recognition 

TREE CITY USA 

 
Recognized Maine Communities (19) 
CITY YEARS POPULATION 
Auburn 13 22,990 
Augusta 22 18,700 
Bangor 11 33,500 
Bath 19 8,514 
Camden 21 4,850 
Castine 7 1,359 
Dover-Foxcroft 4 4,213 
Farmington 39 7,760 
Hallowell 14 2,400 
Kennebunkport 39 3,474 
Lewiston 13 37,807 
Orono 20 10,362 
Portland 36 65,000 
Saco 6 18,000 
South Portland 36 25,002 
Veazie 3 2,000 
Waterville 18 17,500 
Westbrook 39 17,500 
Yarmouth 37 8,349 
 



 
 

 
ITEM 111 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
	

OFFICE	OF	THE	FINANCE	DIRECTOR	
	
	

	

M	E	M	O	R	A	N	D	U	M	
	
	
TO:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
FROM:	 Julia	Henze	
	 Finance	Director	
	 	
DATE:	 September	28,	2016	
	
SUBJECT:	 Finance	Committee	Policy	
	
	
	

At	its	September	15th	meeting,	the	Finance	Committee	discussed	several	modifications	to	the	
Finance	Committee	Policy.		These	include:			

1. A	recommendation	that,	for	continuity,	members	serve	two	consecutive	one‐year	terms	
2. A	statement	of	preference	that	the	meetings	be	televised	
3. Adding	review	of	the	Master	Schedule	of	Revenues,	Charges,	Fees	and	Fines	to	the	list	of	

Finance	Committee	tasks	

As	the	Town	Council	established	the	Finance	Committee	and	adopted	the	Policy,	the	Committee	is	
asking	that	the	Council	approve	the	changes.	

Attached	is	the	Policy,	redlined	with	the	suggested	changes.	

	



 

 
O:\Finance\Finance Committee\Policy\Finance Committee Policy - amended.docxO:\Finance\Finance 
Committee\Policy\Finance Committee Policy.docx 
 

Page 1 
 

Town of Brunswick, Maine 
Finance Committee 

 
 
Purpose.  The purpose of this policy is to establish the composition and responsibilities of the Town’s 
Finance Committee.   
 
Members.  The Finance Committee shall be a standing committee of the Town Council.  The Committee 
shall be comprised of three members of the Town Council appointed by the Council Chair.  Members 
shall be appointed annually after the adoption of the annual budget and prior to July 1st.  Members shall 
each serve terms of one year, concurrent with the July 1st to June 30th fiscal year.  For continuity 
purposes, it is recommended that members serve two consecutive terms, and if appointed mid-year, that 
the partial year be added to the two terms.  At its first meeting, the Committee shall select its chair and 
vice chair.  Should, in the opinion of the Council Chair, circumstances require the extension of the 
Committee’s term beyond the end of the fiscal year, the Chair shall announce his/her determination to the 
Town Council and the terms shall be temporarily extended.  The succeeding Committee shall serve the 
remainder of the term until June 30, unless subsequently extended.  
 
Meetings.  The Committee shall meet at least once per month.  The meeting dates shall be established at 
the Committee’s first meeting.  The Committee chair shall call additional meetings as the chair deems 
necessary, as voted by a majority of the Committee’s members, or as directed by the Town Council.  The 
Committee shall give public notice of its meetings in accordance with Maine’s Freedom of Access Act 
(FOAA) and rules established by the Town Council, and when possible the meetings should be held in the 
Council Chambers and be televised.  A majority of the members appointed to the Committee shall 
constitute a quorum. A majority of concurring votes shall be necessary to constitute an action on any 
matter. 
 
Responsibilities.  The Finance Committee shall perform the following tasks and functions: 
 

1. Encourage and participate in long-range financial planning. 
 

2. Review the annual budget as recommended by the Town Manager and provide commentary to the 
Town Council.   

 
3. Review monthly budget to actual statements as prepared by the Finance Department. 

 
4. Review ordinances, official statements and other documents connected with the issuance of debt. 

  
4.5. Review and suggest updates to the Master Schedule of Revenues, Charges, Fees and Fines, 

Appendix B to the Municipal Code of Ordinances. 
 

5.6. Review the Town’s risk management activities and insurance coverage. 
 

6.7. Review, as requested by the Town Manager, bid specifications and requests for proposals for the 
purchase of goods or services. 

 
7.8. In consultation with the Town’s administration, assist or prepare policies and/or procedures 

relating to the financial affairs of the Town. 



 

 
O:\Finance\Finance Committee\Policy\Finance Committee Policy - amended.docxO:\Finance\Finance 
Committee\Policy\Finance Committee Policy.docx 
 

Page 2 
 

 
8.9. The Finance Committee shall assume the duties of the Capital Improvement Plan Committee. 

 
9.10. The Finance Committee shall assume the duties of the Audit Committee. 

 
10.11. Review and report on the Town’s investments. 

 
11.12. Receive and review the reports and recommendations of the Town’s Trust Fund Advisory 

Committee.   
 

12.13. Perform such other tasks and functions as may be delegated to it by the Town Council 
from time to time.   

 
The Finance Committee may adopt rules of procedure, consistent with this policy, to enable it to perform 
its functions. 
 
Conflict of Interest.  Members of the Finance Committee shall adhere to the conflict of interest policy 
which was established by the Town Council in its Rules and Procedures. 
 
Administration.  The Finance Director shall be responsible to provide for the administration of the affairs 
of the Finance Committee, including preparing agendas and minutes, posting public hearings, handling 
correspondence, and maintaining all official records.  
 
 
Proposed to Town Council: July 21, 2014 
 
Adopted by Town Council: August 4, 2014 
 
Amended by Town Council: February 16, 2016 
 
Amendments proposed by Finance Committee: September 15, 2016 



 
 

 
ITEM 112 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



Town of Brunswick, Maine 
	

OFFICE	OF	THE	FINANCE	DIRECTOR	
	
	

	

M	E	M	O	R	A	N	D	U	M	
	
	
TO:	 John	Eldridge	
	 Town	Manager	
	
FROM:	 Julia	Henze	
	 Finance	Director	
	 	
DATE:	 September	28,	2016	
	
SUBJECT:	 Investment	Policy	
	
	
	

In	accordance	with	its	charge	to	review	and	assist	in	the	preparation	of	policies	relating	to	the	
financial	affairs	of	the	Town,	the	Finance	Committee	looked	at	the	Town’s	Investment	Policy	in	its	
August	and	September	meetings.		One	intention	for	renewing	the	Investment	Policy	at	this	time	is	
to	prepare	for	an	upcoming	Request	for	Proposal	for	banking	services.		At	this	time	the	Committee	
would	like	to	present	a	policy	to	the	Council	for	adoption.	

The	proposed	policy	is	based	largely	on	recommended	practices	as	detailed	by	the	Governmental	
Finance	Officers	Association,	and	that	recommendation	is	attached	as	an	addendum	to	the	policy.		
Also	attached,	and	referenced	in	the	policy	as	a	governing	authority,	is	the	section	of	the	Maine	
statute	Title	30‐A,	5706	“Deposit	or	Investment	of	Funds”.	

The	purpose	of	the	Investment	Policy	is	to	document	and	describe	the	Town’s	general	objectives	
with	investments,	and	to	establish	expectations	for	authorized	staff	and	institutions,	as	well	as	to	
outline	specifics	in	allowed	investments,	auditing	and	reporting	requirements.			

The	Finance	Committee	is	recommending	that	the	Council	adopt	the	attached	policy.	

	



1

(Sept 2016) 

Town of Brunswick 
Investment Policy 

 
I.   Introduction 

 
The intent of the Investment Policy of the Town of Brunswick (“Town”) is to define the parameters 
within which funds are to be managed. In methods, procedures and practices, the policy formalizes 
the framework for the Town’s investment activities that must be exercised to ensure effective and 
judicious fiscal and investment management of the Town’s funds. The guidelines are intended to be 
broad enough to allow the investment officer to function properly within the parameters of 
responsibility and authority, yet specific enough to adequately safeguard the investment assets. 

 
II.   Governing Authority 

 
The investment program shall be operated in conformance with federal, state, and other legal 
requirements, including the State of Maine Title 30-A M.R.S.A. section 5706, and 5711-5719. 

  
III.   Scope 

 
This policy applies to activities of the Town of Brunswick with regard to investing the financial assets 
of all funds.  Funds held by the Town as trustee or fiscal agent are excluded from these rules; 
however, all funds are subject to regulations established by the State of Maine.  The covered funds, 
and any new funds created by the Town unless specifically exempted by the oversight board and this 
policy, are defined in the Town of Brunswick’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 

 
Proceeds from certain bond issues, and separate endowment assets are covered by separate policies.  
For bond proceeds, investment earnings are governed by arbitrage rules.  Endowment assets, 
specifically the trust funds held by the Town both as permanent funds and private purpose funds, are 
invested in accordance with the policies and procedures developed by the Trust Fund Advisory 
Committee. 

 
Except for funds in certain restricted and special funds, the Town commingles its funds to maximize 
investment earnings and to increase efficiencies with regard to investment pricing, safekeeping and 
administration. Investment income may be allocated to the various funds based on their respective 
participation and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  

 
IV.   General Objectives 

 
The primary objectives, in priority order, of investment activities shall be: 

 
1. Safety 
Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the investment program. Investments shall be 
undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the preservation of capital in the overall portfolio. The goal 
will be to mitigate credit risk and interest rate risk. 

a. Credit Risk 
The Town of Brunswick will minimize credit risk, which is the risk of loss due to the failure of 
the security issuer or backer, by: 

 Limiting investments to the types of securities listed in Section VIII of this Investment 
Policy 

 Pre-qualifying the financial institutions, broker/dealers, intermediaries, and advisers with 
which the Town will do business in accordance with Section VI, and 



2

(Sept 2016) 

 Diversifying the investment portfolio so that the impact of potential losses from any one 
type of security or from any one individual issuer will be minimized. 

b. Interest Rate Risk 
The Town of Brunswick will minimize interest rate risk, which is the risk that the market value of 
securities in the portfolio will fall due to changes in market interest rates, by: 

 Structuring the investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash requirements 
for ongoing operations, thereby avoiding the need to sell securities on the open market 
prior to maturity, and 

 Investing operating funds primarily in shorter-term securities, money market mutual 
funds, or similar investment pools and limiting the average maturity of the portfolio in 
accordance with this policy (see Section IX). 

2.   Liquidity 
The investment portfolio shall remain sufficiently liquid to meet all operating requirements that may be 
reasonably anticipated.  This is accomplished by structuring the portfolio so that securities mature 
concurrent with cash needs to meet anticipated demands (static liquidity).  Furthermore, since all 
possible cash demands cannot be anticipated, the portfolio should consist largely of securities with 
active secondary or resale markets (dynamic liquidity).  Alternatively, a portion of the portfolio may be 
placed in money market mutual funds or local government investment pools which offer same-day 
liquidity for short-term funds. 
 
3.  Yield 
The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a market rate of return 
throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the investment risk constraints of safety 
and liquidity needs.  Return on investment is of secondary importance compared to the safety and 
liquidity objectives described above.  The core of investments is limited to relatively low risk securities 
in anticipation of earning a fair return relative to the risk being assumed. 

 
4.  Special Considerations 
Where possible, funds may be invested for the betterment of the local economy or that of local entities 
within the State.  The Town may accept a proposal from an eligible institution which provides for a 
reduced rate of interest provided that such institution documents the use of deposited funds for 
community and economic development projects. 

 
V.     Standards of Care 

 
1. Prudence 
The standard of prudence to be used by investment officials shall be the “prudent person” standard and 
shall be applied in the context of managing an overall portfolio. Investment officers acting in 
accordance with written procedures and this investment policy and exercising due diligence shall be 
relieved of personal liability for an individual security’s credit risk or market price changes, provided 
deviations from expectations are reported in a timely fashion and appropriate action is taken to control 
adverse developments. 

 
The "prudent person" standard states that, 

“Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under circumstances then 
prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the 
management of their own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering 
the probable safety of their capital as well as the probable income to be derived.” 

 
2.  Ethics and Conflicts of Interest 



3

(Sept 2016) 

Officers and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal activity that 
could conflict with the proper execution and management of the investment program, or that could 
impair their ability to make impartial investment decisions. Employees and investment officials shall 
disclose any material interests in financial institutions with which they conduct business. Disclosure 
shall be made to the governing body.  They shall further disclose any personal financial/investment 
positions that could be related to the performance of the investment portfolio.  Employees and officers 
shall refrain from undertaking any personal investment transactions with the same individual with 
whom business is conducted on behalf of the Town of Brunswick. 

 
3.  Delegation of Authority and Responsibilities 
Authority to manage the investment program is granted to the Treasurer, hereinafter referred to as 
investment officer and derived from the following: Brunswick Town Charter, Article V, Section 507.  
Responsibility for the operation of the investment program is hereby delegated to the investment 
officer, who shall act in accordance with established written procedures and internal controls for the 
operation of the investment program consistent with this Investment Policy.  All participants in the 
investment process shall seek to act responsibly as custodians of the public trust. No officer or 
designee may engage in an investment transaction except as provided under the terms of this policy and 
supporting procedures. 

 
VI. Authorized Financial Institutions, Depositories, and Broker/Dealers 

 
1. Authorized Financial Institutions, Depositories, and Broker/Dealers 
A list will be maintained of financial institutions and depositories authorized to provide investment 
services.  In addition, a list will be maintained of approved security broker/dealers selected by 
conducting a process of due diligence.  These may include ‘primary” dealers or regional dealers that 
qualify under Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Rule 15C3-1 (uniform net capital rule). 
 
All broker/dealers who desire to become qualified for investment transactions must supply the 
following as appropriate: 

 
 Audited financial statements demonstrating compliance with state and federal capital adequacy 

guidelines 
 Proof of FINRA certification 
 Proof of state registration 
 Certification of having read and understood and agreeing to comply with the Town of 

Brunswick’s investment policy. 
 Evidence of adequate insurance coverage. 

 
A periodic review, at least once every five years, of the financial condition and registration of all 
qualified financial institutions and broker/dealers will be conducted by the investment officer. 
 
2. Minority, Emerging and Community Financial Institutions 
From time to time, the investment officer may choose to invest in instruments offered by 
minority, emerging and community financial institutions. All terms and relationships will be fully 
disclosed prior to purchase, and will be reported to the appropriate entity on a consistent basis and 
should be consistent with state or local law. 

 
VII.  Safekeeping and Custody 

 
1. Delivery vs. Payment 
All trades of marketable securities will be executed (cleared and settled) on a delivery vs. payment 



4

(Sept 2016) 

(DVP) basis to ensure that securities are deposited in the Town of Brunswick’s safekeeping institution 
prior to the release of funds. 

 
2. Third-Party Safekeeping 

Securities will be held by an independent third-party custodian selected by the Town. All securities 
will be evidenced by safekeeping receipts in the Town’s name. 

 
3.  Internal Controls 

The investment officer is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure 
designed to ensure that the assets of the Town are protected from loss, theft or misuse. Specifics for the 
internal controls shall be documented in written procedures that shall be reviewed and updated 
annually. 

 
The internal control structure shall be designed to provide reasonable assurance that these objectives 
are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that ( 1 )  the cost of a control should not 
exceed the benefits likely to be derived and (2) the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates 
and judgments by management. The internal controls shall address the following points at a minimum: 
 
•   Control of collusion 
•   Separation of transaction authority from accounting and recordkeeping 
•   Custodial safekeeping 
•   Avoidance of physical delivery securities 
•   Clear delegation of authority to subordinate staff members 
•   Written confirmation of transactions for investments and wire transfers 
•   Dual authorizations of wire transfers 
•   Staff training and 
•   Review, maintenance and monitoring of security procedures both manual and automated. 

 
The external auditor shall provide an annual independent review to assure compliance with state 
law, policies and procedures. 

 
VIII.    Suitable and Authorized Investments 

 
1.  Investment Types and Credit Guidelines 
Consistent with the GFOA Policy Statement on State and Local Laws Concerning Investment Practices, 
the following investments will be permitted by this policy and are those defined by state and local 
law where applicable.  Typical types of securities include: 

 
 U.S. Treasury and other government obligations that carry the full faith and credit guarantee of 

the United States for the payment of principal and interest; 
 Federal Agency or U.S. government sponsored enterprises (GSE) obligations, participations or 

other instruments; 
 Certificates of Deposit; 
 Bankers' acceptances; 
 Commercial paper, rated in the highest tier (e.g., A-1, P-1, F-1, or D-1 or higher) by a 

nationally recognized rating agency; 
 Investment-grade obligations of state, provincial and local governments and public authorities; 
 Fully collateralized Repurchase agreements collateralized in compliance with this Policy, 

governed by a SIFMA Master Repurchase Agreement and with a maximum maturity; 
 SEC registered money market mutual funds; and 



5

(Sept 2016) 

 Local government investment pools. 
 
2. Collateralization 
Where allowed or required by state law and in accordance with the GFOA Recommended 
Practices on Collateralizing Public Deposits, full collateralization will be required on all demand 
deposit accounts, including checking accounts and non-negotiable certificates of deposit. 

 
IX. Investment Parameters 

 
1.  Diversification 
It is the policy of the Town of Brunswick to diversify its investment portfolios. To eliminate risk of loss 
resulting from the over-concentration of assets in a specific maturity, issuer, or class of securities, assets 
in all Town funds shall be diversified by maturity, issuer, and class of security. Diversification 
strategies shall be determined and revised periodically by the investment officer for all funds. 
 
2. Maximum Maturities 
To the extent possible, the Town of Brunswick shall attempt to match its investments with anticipated 
cash flow requirements.  Unless matched to a specific cash flow, the Town will not directly invest in 
securities maturing more than five (5) years from the date of purchase or in accordance with state and 
local statutes and ordinances.  The Town shall adopt weighted average maturity limitations consistent 
with the investment objectives.  
 
Reserve funds and other funds with longer-term investment horizons may be invested in securities 
exceeding five (5) years if the maturities of such investments are made to coincide as nearly as 
practicable with the expected use of funds.  The intent to invest in securities with longer maturities shall 
be disclosed in writing to the legislative body. 
 
Because of inherent difficulties in accurately forecasting cash flow requirements, a portion of the 
portfolio should be continuously invested in readily available funds such as collateralized deposit 
accounts, local government investment pools, money market funds, or overnight repurchase agreements 
to ensure that appropriate liquidity is maintained to meet ongoing obligations. 
 
X. Reporting 

 
1.  Annual report 
The investment officer shall prepare an investment report at least annually, including a management 
summary that provides an analysis of the status of the current investment portfolio and the individual 
transactions executed over the last year. The report should be provided to the Town’s Finance 
Committee. The report will include, at a minimum, the following: 

 
a. An asset listing showing cost and market value of each security, type of investment, 

issuer, and interest rate; 
b. Maturity distribution of the portfolio;  
c. Average portfolio credit quality; and, 
d. Distribution by type of investment.  

 
2. Annual audit 
The Town’s external auditor shall conduct an annual process of independent review to assure 
compliance with internal controls, and to verify the accuracy of management’s reporting. Such audit 
will include tests deemed appropriate by the auditor, and reports of any findings will be made as part of 



6

(Sept 2016) 

the auditor’s annual report to Council. 
 

XI. Policy Considerations 
 

1.  Exemption 
Any investment currently held that does not meet the guidelines of this policy shall be 
exempted from the requirements of this policy. At maturity or liquidation, such monies shall 
be reinvested only as provided by this policy. 

 
2.   Amendments 
This policy shall be reviewed on an annual basis. Any changes must be approved by the 
investment officer and any other appropriate authority, as well as the individuals charged with 
maintaining internal controls.  

 
XII Approval of Investment Policy 

 
The investment policy and any modifications to that policy shall be formally approved and adopted by 
the Town Council, and shall be reviewed annually by the Finance Committee 

 
XIII. Attachments 

 
The following documents, as applicable, are attached to this policy: 

 
Glossary 
State of Maine Title 30-A M.R.S.A. section 5706, and 5711-5719 
GFOA Best Practices and Advisories: Collateralizing Public Deposits (2007 – GFOA TIM Committee) 
 

 
  



7

(Sept 2016) 

Glossary 
 
 

US Treasury Obligation 
Direct obligations of the United States Treasury whose payment is guaranteed by the United 
States.  
 
GSE – Agency Obligations  
US Government Agencies, Government Sponsored Enterprises (GSEs), Corporations or 
Instrumentalities of the US Government – Federal Instrumentality Securities include, but are not 
limited to Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA), the Federal Home Loan Mortgage 
Corporation (FHLMC), Federal Home Loan Banks (FHLB), and the Federal Farm Credit Bureau 
(FFCB). 
 
Commercial Paper  
Commercial Paper* that is rated A1/P1 and has long term bonds which have a minimum rating of 
AA- by Standard and Poor’s and Aa3 by Moody’s 
 
Bankers’ Acceptances 
Bankers’ acceptances, if the bankers’ acceptances are: (i) Guaranteed by, and carried on the books of, a 
qualified financial institution; (ii) Eligible for discount by the Federal Reserve System; and (iii) Issued 
by a qualified financial institution whose short-term letter of credit rating is rated in the highest 
category by one or more nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. For the purposes of this 
paragraph, “qualified financial institution” means: (i) A financial institution that is located and licensed 
to do banking business in the State; or (ii) A financial institution that is wholly owned by a financial 
holding company or a bank holding company that owns a financial institution that is located and 
licensed to do banking business in the State of Maine. 
 
Repurchase Agreements 
An agreement with a approved broker/dealer that provides for sell and simultaneous purchase of a 
allowable collateral security. The difference in the sales and purchase price is the earning rate on the 
agreement.  A master repurchase agreement must be in place with the approved broker/dealer or 
financial institution. 
 
Local Government Investment Pool 
State treasurer’s local short-term investment fund, up to the statutory limit per state statute. 
 
Certificates of Deposit/Bank Deposit/Savings Accounts 
Time deposit open accounts, certificates of deposit and savings accounts in insured institutions as 
defined in State Statue, in credit unions as defined in State statue or in federal credit unions, if the 
institution or credit union maintains a head office or a branch in this State of Maine. 
 
Municipal Obligations 
Lawfully issued debt obligations of the agencies and instrumentalities of the State of Maine and its 
political subdivisions that have a long-term rating of A or an equivalent rating or better, or are rated 
on the settlement date in the highest category for short-term municipal debt by a nationally 
recognized statistical rating organization. 
 



 

 

Generated 
3.31.2016      |  1

Maine Revised Statutes 

Title 30-A: MUNICIPALITIES AND COUNTIES HEADING: PL 1987, c. 
737, Pt. A, §2 (new) 

Chapter 223: MUNICIPAL FINANCES HEADING: PL 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (new) 

§5706. DEPOSIT OR INVESTMENT OF FUNDS 

 

As directed by the municipal officers, the treasurer shall invest all municipal funds, including reserve funds and trust 
funds, to the extent that the terms of the instrument, order or article creating the fund do not prohibit the investment, 
as follows: [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  
1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 
(AMD).] 

1. Financial institutions.  In accounts or deposits of institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation, the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund or the successors to these federal agencies. 
A. Accounts and deposits exceeding an amount equal to 25% of the capital, surplus and undivided profits of any 
trust company or national bank or a sum exceeding an amount equal to 25% of the reserve fund and undivided profit 
account of a mutual savings bank or state or federal savings and loan association on deposit at any one time must be 
secured by the pledge of certain securities as collateral, or fully covered by insurance. 

(1) The collateral must be in an amount equal to the excess deposit. The municipal officers shall determine the value 
of the pledged securities on the basis of market value and shall review the value of the pledged securities on the first 
business day of January and July of each year. 
(2) The collateral may consist only of securities in which municipalities may invest, as provided in article 2. The 
securities must be held in a depository institution approved by the municipal officers and pledged to indemnify the 
municipalities against any loss. The depository institution shall notify the municipal officers of the pledging when 
the securities are deposited; [2015, c. 44, §9 (AMD).] 

[ 2015, c. 44, §9 (AMD) .] 

2. Repurchase agreements.  In repurchase agreements with respect to obligations of the United States Government, 
as defined in section 5712, subsection 1, as long as the market value of the underlying obligation is equal to or 
greater than the amount of the municipality's investment and either the municipality's security entitlement with 
respect to the underlying obligation is created pursuant to the provisions of Title 11, Article 8-A and other applicable 
law or the municipality's security interest is perfected pursuant to the provisions of Title 11, Article 9-A and other 
applicable law, except that, if the term of the repurchase agreement is not in excess of 96 hours, the municipality's 
security interest with respect to the underlying obligation need not be perfected as long as an executed Public 
Securities Association form of master repurchase agreement is on file with the counterparty prior to the date of the 
transaction; 

[ 1999, c. 699, Pt. D, §19 (AMD);  1999, c. 699, Pt. D, §30 (AFF) .] 

3. Mutual funds.  In the shares of an investment company registered under the United States Investment Company 
Act of 1940, Public Law 76-768, whose shares are registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, Public 
Law 73-22, provided that the investments of the fund are limited to bonds and other direct obligations of the United 
States Government, as defined in section 5712, subsection 1 or repurchase agreements secured by bonds and other 
direct obligations of the United States Government, as defined in section 5712, subsection 1; 

[ 1997, c. 367, §1 (AMD) .] 

3-A. Mutual funds for trusts governed by the United States Internal Revenue Code, Section 501(c)(3).  In the 
case of a trust fund that is governed by the United States Internal Revenue Code, Section 501 (c) (3) (1997), in the 



MRS Title 30-A §5706. DEPOSIT OR INVESTMENT OF FUNDS 

  |  2   
Generated 
3.31.2016

shares of any investment company registered under the United States Investment Company Act of 1940, Public Law 
76-768, whose shares are registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, Public Law 73-22, as long as: 

A. The investment is approved by the municipal officers at a public meeting; and [2003, c. 8, §1 
(AMD).] 

B. No more than 50% of the assets of the trust are invested in mutual funds under this subsection; or [2003, c. 
8, §1 (AMD).] 

C.  [2003, c. 8, §1 (RP).] 

[ 2003, c. 8, §1 (AMD) .] 

4. Safekeeping and investment management agreements.  The municipal officers may enter into an agreement 
with any financial institution with trust powers authorized to do business in the State for the safekeeping of the 
reserve funds, as defined in section 5801, or trust funds, as defined by section 5653, of the municipality. Services 
must consist of the safekeeping of the funds, collection of interest and dividends, and any other fiscal service that is 
normally covered in a safekeeping agreement. Investment of reserve funds or trust funds deposited under a 
safekeeping agreement may be managed either by the financial institution with which the funds are deposited or by 
an investment advisor registered with the National Association of Securities Dealers, federal Securities and 
Exchange Commission or other governmental agency or instrumentality with jurisdiction over investment advisors, 
to act in such capacity pursuant to an investment advisory agreement providing for investment management and 
periodic review of portfolio investments. Investment of funds on behalf of the municipality under this section is 
governed by the rule of prudence, according to Title 18-B, sections 802 to 807 and chapter 9. The contracting parties 
shall give assurance of proper safeguards that are usual to these contracts and shall furnish insurance protection 
satisfactory to both parties. 

[ 2003, c. 618, Pt. B, §17 (AMD);  2003, c. 618, Pt. B, §20 (AFF) .] 

SECTION HISTORY 
1987, c. 737, §§A2,C106 (NEW).  1989, c. 6, (AMD).  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD).  
1989, c. 104, §§C8,10 (AMD).  1995, c. 206, §1 (AMD).  1995, c. 664, §2 (AMD).  
1997, c. 367, §§1,2 (AMD).  1997, c. 429, §C35 (AMD).  1999, c. 699, §D19 
(AMD).  1999, c. 699, §D30 (AFF).  2003, c. 8, §1 (AMD).  2003, c. 618, §B17 
(AMD).  2003, c. 618, §B20 (AFF).  2013, c. 16, §10 (REV).  2015, c. 44, §9 
(AMD). 

§5711. INVESTMENTS IN GENERAL 
 

Municipalities may hereafter invest their funds in securities in accordance with this article, subject to the conditions 
and limitations set forth in this article or the terms of the instrument, order or article creating the fund being 
invested. Limitations set forth in this article concerning the maximum amount which may be invested in a security 
or type of security shall apply only to an investment in that security or type of security which exceeds $20,000. 
Investments made under this article shall be made by the treasurer upon direction of the municipal officers. 
[1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 6, 
(AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD).] 

SECTION HISTORY 
1987, c. 737, §§A2,C106 (NEW).  1989, c. 6, (AMD).  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD).  
1989, c. 104, §§C8,10 (AMD). 

§5712. GOVERNMENT UNIT BONDS 

 

Municipalities may invest in: [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, 
§106 (NEW);  1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, 
§§8, 10 (AMD).] 



MRS Title 30-A §5706. DEPOSIT OR INVESTMENT OF FUNDS 

Generated 
3.31.2016      |  3

1. United States and instrumentalities.  The bonds and other direct obligations of the United States, or the bonds 
and other direct obligations or participation certificates issued by any agency, association, authority or 
instrumentality created by the United States Congress or any executive order; 

[ 1995, c. 206, §1 (AMD) .] 

2. States.  The bonds and other direct obligations issued or guaranteed by any state or by any instrumentality or 
agency of any state, or by any political subdivision of any state, provided that the securities are rated within the 3 
highest grades by any rating service approved by the Superintendent of Financial Institutions; 

[ 1995, c. 206, §1 (AMD);  2001, c. 44, §11 (AMD);  2001, c. 44, §14 (AFF) .] 

3. Maine.  The bonds and other direct obligations issued or guaranteed by this State, or issued by any 
instrumentality or agency of this State, or any political subdivision of the State that is not in default on any of its 
outstanding funded obligations; 

[ 1995, c. 206, §1 (AMD) .] 

4. Canada.  The bonds and other direct obligations issued or guaranteed by the Dominion of Canada, or issued or 
guaranteed by any province, or political subdivision of a province, provided that the securities are rated within the 3 
highest grades by any rating service approved by the Superintendent of Financial Institutions and are payable in 
United States funds; and 

[ 1995, c. 206, §1 (AMD);  2001, c. 44, §11 (AMD);  2001, c. 44, §14 (AFF) .] 

5. Short-term obligations.  Prime bankers' acceptances and prime commercial paper. 

[ 1995, c. 206, §1 (NEW) .] 

Investments made pursuant to this section are limited to direct obligations of the issuer in which the municipality 
directly owns the underlying security. Obligations created from, or whose value depends on or is derived from the 
value of one or more underlying assets or indexes of asset values in which the municipality owns no direct interest 
do not qualify as investments under this section. [1995, c. 206, §1 (NEW).] 

SECTION HISTORY 
1987, c. 737, §§A2,C106 (NEW).  1989, c. 6, (AMD).  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD).  
1989, c. 104, §§C8,10 (AMD).  1995, c. 206, §1 (AMD).  2001, c. 44, §11 (AMD).  
2001, c. 44, §14 (AFF). 

§5713. CORPORATE SECURITIES 

 

Municipalities may invest in: [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, 
§106 (NEW);  1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, 
§§8, 10 (AMD).] 

1. Corporate bonds.  The bonds and other obligations of any United States or Canadian corporation, provided that 
the securities are rated within the 3 highest grades by any rating service approved by the Superintendent of Financial 
Institutions and are payable in United States funds. Not more than 2% of the total assets of the permanent reserve 
fund, permanent trust fund or other permanent fund being invested may be invested in the securities of any one such 
corporation; 

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 
6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD);  2001, 
c. 44, §11 (AMD);  2001, c. 44, §14 (AFF) .] 

2. Maine corporate bonds.  The bonds and other obligations of any Maine corporation, actually conducting in this 
State the business for which that corporation was created, which, for a period of 3 successive fiscal years or for a 



MRS Title 30-A §5706. DEPOSIT OR INVESTMENT OF FUNDS 

  |  4   
Generated 
3.31.2016

period of 3 years immediately preceding the investment, has earned or received an average net income of not less 
than 2 times the interest on the obligations in question and all prior liens or, in the case of water companies subject 
to the jurisdiction of the Public Utilities Commission, an average net income of not less than 1 1/2 times the interest 
on the obligations in question and all prior liens. Not more than 20% of the total assets of the permanent reserve 
fund, permanent trust fund or other permanent fund being invested may be invested in these securities of Maine 
corporations and not more than 2% of that fund in the securities of any single corporation; and 

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 
6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .] 

3. Maine corporate stocks.  Maine corporate stocks which have the following characteristics. 
A. The stock of any Maine corporation, other than stock of a financial institution, actually conducting in this State 
the business for which that corporation was created, provided that the corporation has, for a period of 3 years 
immediately preceding the investment, earned and received an average net income after taxes equivalent to at least 
6% upon the entire outstanding issue of the stock in question. [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  
1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  
1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD).] 

B. Not more than 10% of the deposits of the total assets of the permanent reserve fund, permanent trust fund or other 
permanent fund being invested may be invested under this section in stocks of Maine corporations and not more 
than 1% of the total assets of the permanent reserve fund, permanent trust fund or other permanent fund being 
invested may be so invested in the stock of any single corporation. The fund shall be invested in no more than 20% 
of the capital stock of any corporation. [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. 
C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. 
C, §§8, 10 (AMD).] 

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 
6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .] 

SECTION HISTORY 
1987, c. 737, §§A2,C106 (NEW).  1989, c. 6, (AMD).  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD).  
1989, c. 104, §§C8,10 (AMD).  2001, c. 44, §11 (AMD).  2001, c. 44, §14 (AFF). 

§5714. FINANCIAL INSTITUTION STOCK AND OTHER OBLIGATIONS 

1.    Municipalities may invest in: 
A. The debentures of any financial institution authorized to do business within this State, incorporated under the 
laws of this State or the United States and of any financial institution holding company, provided that the holding 
company is registered under the United States Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, or the National 
Housing Act, Section 408, as amended; [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. 
C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. 
C, §§8, 10 (AMD).] 

B. The capital stock, preferred stock, debentures and acceptances of any insured bank not having an office in this 
State which has total capital and reserves of at least $50,000,000 and of any bank holding company whose 
subsidiary banks have total capital and reserves of at least $50,000,000, provided that the holding company is 
registered under the United States Bank Holding Company Act of 1956; [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 
(NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 
(AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD).] 

C. Capital notes or debentures issued by any municipalities chartered under the laws of any state, or of the United 
States, or of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, notwithstanding the fact that these notes or debentures may be 
subordinate to the claims of depositors or other creditors of the issuing institution. Not more than 1% of the total 
assets of the permanent reserve fund, permanent trust fund or other permanent fund being invested may be so 
invested; and [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  
1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 
(AMD).] 



MRS Title 30-A §5706. DEPOSIT OR INVESTMENT OF FUNDS 

Generated 
3.31.2016      |  5

D. Obligations issued, assumed or guaranteed by the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development or the 
Inter-American Development Bank or the African Development Bank. [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 
(NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 
(AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD).] 

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 
6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .] 

2. Limitations.  A municipality shall not acquire or hold stock and obligations described in subsection 1 in excess of 
30% of the total assets of the reserve fund, permanent trust fund or other permanent fund being invested; nor shall it 
acquire or hold stock and obligations of any one bank or holding company not operating in this State in excess of 
5% of the total assets of the reserve fund, permanent trust fund or other permanent fund being invested; nor shall any 
such fund be invested in that stock in excess of 10% of the capital stock of any one bank or holding company. 

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 
6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .] 

SECTION HISTORY 
1987, c. 737, §§A2,C106 (NEW).  1989, c. 6, (AMD).  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD).  
1989, c. 104, §§C8,10 (AMD). 

§5715. OTHER STOCK INVESTMENTS 

 

Municipalities may invest in: [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, 
§106 (NEW);  1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, 
§§8, 10 (AMD).] 

1. Preferred stock of public utilities.  The preferred stock of any public corporation if all of the publicly issued 
bonds of the corporation qualify as legal investments under section 5713, subsection 1 or 2. Not more than 10% of 
the permanent reserve fund, permanent trust fund or other permanent fund being invested may be invested in 
preferred stocks of public utilities, and not more than 1% of any such fund may be invested in the preferred stocks of 
any one corporation; 

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 
6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .] 

2. Bonds of nonprofit organizations.  The bonds or other interest-bearing obligations of any religious, charitable, 
educational or fraternal association or corporation. Not more than 10% of the total assets of the permanent reserve 
fund, permanent trust fund or other permanent fund being invested may be invested in securities coming within the 
coverage of this subsection, and not more than 1% of the total assets of the permanent reserve fund, permanent trust 
fund or other permanent fund being invested may be invested in securities of any one such association or 
corporation; 

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 
6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .] 

3. Small business investment companies.  The stock of small business investment companies licensed under the 
United States Small Business Investment Act of 1958, as amended, and commercially domiciled in Maine and doing 
business primarily in Maine. Not more than 1% of the total assets of the permanent reserve fund, permanent trust 
fund or other permanent fund being invested may be invested in the stock of small business investment companies 
and any such fund shall not be invested in more than 10% of the stock of any one small business investment 
company; and 

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 
6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .] 



MRS Title 30-A §5706. DEPOSIT OR INVESTMENT OF FUNDS 

  |  6   
Generated 
3.31.2016

4. Maine Capital Corporation.  The stock of the Maine Capital Corporation, established under Title 10, chapter 
108, in an amount not to exceed 1% of the total assets of the permanent reserve fund, permanent trust fund or other 
permanent fund being invested. 

[ 1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  1989, c. 
6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 (AMD) .] 

SECTION HISTORY 
1987, c. 737, §§A2,C106 (NEW).  1989, c. 6, (AMD).  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD).  
1989, c. 104, §§C8,10 (AMD). 

§5716. OTHER PRUDENT SECURITIES 

 

Municipalities may invest in such securities as the municipal officers consider to be sound, prudent investments, the 
making of which would not otherwise be legal but for this section. Not more than 10% of the total assets of the 
permanent reserve fund, permanent trust fund or other permanent fund being invested may be invested in securities 
within the coverage of this section and investments in the stock of the State's financial institutions shall not be 
considered within this section. This section does not limit the authority of municipalities to invest in securities 
specifically regulated by this article; rather, this section gives additional authority to invest 10% in any type of 
prudent security. [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 (NEW);  
1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 10 
(AMD).] 

SECTION HISTORY 
1987, c. 737, §§A2,C106 (NEW).  1989, c. 6, (AMD).  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD).  
1989, c. 104, §§C8,10 (AMD). 

§5717. RETENTION OF UNAUTHORIZED SECURITIES 

 

Municipalities may acquire and hold securities not authorized by law, but which have been acquired in settlements, 
reorganizations, recapitalizations, mergers, consolidations, by receipt of stock dividends or the exercise of rights 
applicable to securities held by the municipalities and may continue to hold these securities at the discretion of the 
municipal officers. Municipalities may continue to hold at the discretion of the municipal officers securities under 
authorization of law. [1987, c. 737, Pt. A, §2 (NEW);  1987, c. 737, Pt. C, §106 
(NEW);  1989, c. 6, (AMD);  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD);  1989, c. 104, Pt. C, §§8, 
10 (AMD).] 

SECTION HISTORY 
1987, c. 737, §§A2,C106 (NEW).  1989, c. 6, (AMD).  1989, c. 9, §2 (AMD).  
1989, c. 104, §§C8,10 (AMD). 

§5718. STANDARD OF PRUDENCE 

 

All investments made under this subchapter must be made with the judgment and care that persons of prudence, 
discretion and intelligence, under circumstances then prevailing, exercise in the management of their own affairs, 
not for speculation but for investment, considering: [1995, c. 206, §2 (NEW).] 

1. Safety.  The safety of principal and preservation of capital in the overall portfolio; 

[ 1995, c. 206, §2 (NEW) .] 

2. Maintenance of liquidity.  Maintenance of sufficient liquidity to meet all operating and other cash requirements 
with which a fund is charged that are reasonably anticipated; and 



MRS Title 30-A §5706. DEPOSIT OR INVESTMENT OF FUNDS 

Generated 
3.31.2016      |  7

[ 1995, c. 206, §2 (NEW) .] 

3. Income.  The income to be derived throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account prudent 
investment risk constraints and the cash-flow characteristics of the portfolio. 

[ 1995, c. 206, §2 (NEW) .] 

This standard must be applied to the overall investment portfolio of the municipality and not to individual items 
within a diversified portfolio. [1995, c. 206, §2 (NEW).] 

SECTION HISTORY 
1995, c. 206, §2 (NEW). 

§5719. LIMITATIONS ON INVESTMENTS 

 

A municipality's authority to invest municipal funds is limited to investments permitted under this subchapter and a 
municipality has no authority under home rule authority or otherwise to make any investments other than those 
permitted under this subchapter. [1995, c. 206, §2 (NEW).] 

SECTION HISTORY 
1995, c. 206, §2 (NEW). 
 



 

GFOA Best Practice 

Collateralizing Public Deposits 

Background. The safety of public funds should be the foremost objective in public 
fund management. Collateralization of public deposits through the pledging of 
appropriate securities or other instruments (i.e. surety bonds or letters of credit) by 
depositories is an important safeguard for such deposits. The amount of pledged 
collateral is determined by a governmental entity’s deposit level and the policy or 
legal required collateral margin. Some states have established programs for the 
pooling of collateral for deposit of public funds. 

Federal law imposes certain limitations on collateral agreements between financial 
institutions and public entities in order to secure governmental entity deposits. 
Under certain circumstances, as are discussed in recommendations below, the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) may void an otherwise perfected 
security interest and leave the governmental depositor. with only the right to share 
with other creditors in the pro rata distribution of the assets of a failed institution 
for the amount of deposits that exceed the FDIC coverage. Separate governmental 
“corporations” such as economic development corporations or water supply 
corporations, etc., do not fulfill the FDIC’s definition of “public unit”1 and therefore 
even accurately completed collateral definition may not be honored by the FDIC on 
a bankruptcy. 

Recommendation. GFOA recommends the use of a written agreement with pledging 
requirements as protection for state or local government's deposits. GFOA 
encourages governmental entities to establish adequate and efficient administrative 
systems to monitor such pledged collateral, including state or locally administered 
collateral pledging or collateral pools. To accomplish these goals, GFOA 
recommends the following: 

1. Governmental entities should implement programs of prudent risk control. Such 
programs could include a formal depository risk policy, credit analysis, and use 
of fully secured investments. In the absence of a state program for pooling 
collateral, public entities should establish and implement collateralization 
procedures, including procedures to monitor their collateral positions. 
Monitoring informs a public entity of undercollateralization, which may threaten 
the safety of an entity’s deposits, and overcollateralization, which may increase 
the cost of banking services. Governmental entities however can not and should 
not accept the liability for maintaining collateral levels which liability must fall 
to the financial institution. 

2. Governmental entities/depositors should take all possible actions to comply 
with state and federal requirements in order to ensure that their security 
interests in collateral pledged to secure deposits are enforceable against the 



   

receiver of a failed financial institution. Federal law provides that a depositor’s 
security agreement, which tends to diminish or defeat the interest of the FDIC 
in an asset acquired by it as receiver of an insured depository, shall not be valid 
against the FDIC unless the agreement: 

 is in writing; 

 was approved by the board of directors of the depository or its loan 
committee and2 

 has been, continuously, from the time of its execution, an official record of 
the depository institution.3 

3. Governmental entities should have all pledged collateral held at an independent 
third-party institution outside the holding company of their bank, and evidenced 
by a written agreement in an effort to satisfy the Uniform Commercial Code 
(UCC) requirement for control. The UCC states that the depositor does not have 
a perfected interest in a security unless the depositor controls it. Control means 
that swaps, sales, and transfers cannot occur without the depositor’s written 
approval. 

 The value of the pledged collateral should be marked to market monthly, or 
more frequently depending on the volatility of the collateral pledged. Some 
state statutes do dictate a minimum margin level for collateral based on 
deposit levels (e.g., Georgia and Minnesota statutes require 110 percent). If 
not, the margin levels should be at least 102 percent, depending on the 
liquidity and volatility of the collateral pledged. State statutes also govern 
whether minimum margin levels apply to principal only or to accrued 
interest as well. On a sale, accrued interest would be received. 
Governmental entities should review applicable state statutes and confirm 
compliance. 

 Substitutions of collateral should meet the requirements of the collateral 
agreement, be approved, by the entity in writing prior to release, and the 
collateral should not be released until the replacement collateral has been 
received. 

 The public entity should require reporting directly from the custodian. The 
custodian should warrant and be signatory to the agreement 

 Reporting by the third party institution should at a minimum be monthly. 

4. The pledge of collateral should comply with the investment policy or state 
statute, whichever is more restrictive. Governmental entities should know and 
understand securities pledged as collateral. 

5. Governmental entities that use surety bonds in lieu of collateral should limit the 
insurers to those of the highest credit quality as determined by a nationally 
recognized insurance rating agency. A thorough review of the terms of the bond 
is required. 

6. The governmental entity should thoroughly review the terms and conditions of 
any letters of credit, including those issued by a federal agency or government 
sponsored enterprise. 



   

7. The governmental entity should establish and follow procedures for on-going 
review of collateral. 

Note: As a result of the court case North Arkansas Medical Center v. Barrett, 963 
F.2d 780 (8th Cir. 1992), the FDIC issued a policy statement in March 1993 
indicating that it would not seek to void a security interest of a federal, state, or 
local public unit solely because the security agreement did not comply with the 
contemporaneous execution requirement set forth in Section 13(e) of the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Act 12 U.S.C.1823(e). The policy statement was officially enacted 
by Section 317 of the Riegle Community Development and Regulatory Improvement 
Act of 1994 (Public Law 103-325). 

References. 

GFOA Sample Security Agreement (long and short versions), www.gfoa.org, 2009. 

GFOA Sample Custodial Trust Agreement, www.gfoa.org, 2006. 

An Introduction to Collateralizing Public Deposits for State and Local Governments, 
Second Edition, M. Corinne Larson, GFOA, 2006. 

Investing Public Funds, Second Edition, Girard Miller with M. Corinne Larson and 
W. Paul Zorn, GFOA, 1998. 

FDIC Act (12 U.S.C. 1811 et seq. and 12 C.F.R. Part 330.330.15 Public Unit 
Accounts (www.FDIC.gov) 

NOTES: 

1 For deposit insurance purposes, the term "public unit" includes a state, county, 
municipality, or "political subdivision" thereof. Governments should review Section 
330.15 of the FDIC’s regulations (12 C.F.R. 330.15) to identify if they fall within the 
FDIC’s definition of ‘public unit’ and to determine whether they are public entity 
qualifying for collateral protection under the definition. This information can be 
found at http://www.fdic.gov/deposit/deposits/FactSheet.html 

2 The FDIC does not require every transaction to be reviewed by the board of 
directors. The board may fulfill this function by setting parameters and authorizing a 
particular officer to carry out its wishes. The officer would be performing 
ministerial acts on behalf of the board. (FDIC Interpretive Letters) 

3 Corporate resolutions that list specific officers who are authorized by the board of 
directors to execute agreements securing public deposits will meet this 
requirement. 

Approved by the GFOA’s Executive Board, October, 2007. 



 
 

 
ITEM 113 
BACK UP MATERIALS 



MEMORANDUM 

TO: Town Council 

FROM: Appointments Committee 

SUBJECT: Report for October 3rd Appointments 

DATE: 09/28/2016 

 
The Appointments Committee interviewed several applicants over two meetings, with Councilor 
Watson sitting in for Councilor D. Harris.  The following recommendations were unanimous of 
the committee:  
 
Village Review Board: 

Gary Massanek – reappointment as the citizen at large for a three-year term to expire on 
10/20/2019 
Claudia Knox – appointment as the District resident member for a three-year term to 
expire on 10/20/2019 
Rebekah Beaulieu – appointment as the Pejepscot Historical Society member for a three-
year term to expire on 10/20/2019 

 
There was one additional application from Laura Lienert, who is currently the district resident 
member.  Her application is also included in this packet. 
 
Water District Board: 

Claude Phillippon –reappointment for a three-year term to expire to 09/13/2019 
 
There were no other applicants for this opening. 
 



Summary of Received Applications 9/28/2016
Date of Application

Village Review Board

BeaulieuRebekah 2B Magean St 8/23/2016

Will this be a reappointment No MembershipType: Pej His Soc memb Interview Time: Wed., Sept. 21, 2016, 6:00 p.m.

KnoxClaudia 36 Cumberland St  721-0141 9/2/2016

Will this be a reappointment No MembershipType: District resident Interview Time: Wed., Sept. 21, 2016, 6:30 p.m.

LienertLaura 10 High St  798-7990 8/15/2016

Will this be a reappointment Yes MembershipType: District Rep Interview Time: Wed., Aug. 17, 2016, 6:30 p.m.

MassanekGary 4 Beech Dr  798-8330 8/9/2016

Will this be a reappointment Y MembershipType: Citizen Interview Time: Wed., Aug. 17, 2016, 6:15 p.m.

Water District Trustees

PhilipponClaude 45 Bouchard Dr  729-6049 8/30/2016

Will this be a reappointment Yes MembershipType: Interview Time: Wed., Sept 21, 2016, 6:15 p.m.

Wednesday, September 28, 2016 Page 1 of 1




































	Agenda - Oct 3, 2016
	Agenda Packet - Oct 3, 2016
	ca a  yes
	ca a Sept 19, 2016 min
	ca b  no
	ca c  yes
	Ca c- Election warrant 11-08-16
	ca d  yes
	Ca d abatement
	mr a  yes
	MR a Open projects - Council list
	MR b Completed Projects - Council List
	mr c  no
	mr d  no
	mr e  yes
	MR e Memo Graham Road Landfill 092916
	106  yes
	106 auto_20160927
	107  yes
	107 aki_20160927
	108  yes
	108 Sewer extension ltr from BSD 091516
	109 yes
	109 Memo Brown Tail Moth 092916
	110  yes
	110  memo Tree City USA
	0 Council Memo_Tree Committee
	1 Brunswick Public Tree Program
	Community Forest & Tree Care Program

	2 Benefits of Tree City USA
	TREE CITY USA
	Benefits of the Tree City USA Program
	 Improve community pride. Participation in the Tree City USA program helps residents feel good about the place they live and work. Annual recognition shows visitors and prospective residents that trees, conservation, and the environment are important...
	 More funds to grow your program. Grants up to $20,000 are available for Tree City USA communities for projects such as tree planting in low- to mid-income neighborhoods, bicycling watering programs, creation of community fruit orchards, and tree car...

	3 Four Standards for Tree City USA Recognition
	TREE CITY USA
	Four Standards for Tree City USA Recognition
	Standard 1 A Tree Board or Department
	Standard 2 A Tree Care Ordinance
	Standard 3 A Community Forestry Program with an Annual Budget of at Least $2 Per Capita
	Standard 4 An Arbor Day Observance and Proclamation


	4 sample-tree-ordinance
	TREE CITY USA
	Sample Ordinance

	5 Calculation of Per Capita Spending for Brunswick
	6 proclamation_sample
	TREE CITY USA
	Sample Proclamation of

	7 List of Communities
	TREE CITY USA
	Recognized Maine Communities (19)


	111 yes
	111   Memo for FC policy amend 092816
	112 yes
	112 Memo for Investment policy 092816
	113 yes
	113 App report
	app com memo for 10-3-16 tc meeting
	111 App report
	17-ThoseInterestCertainDateRange
	2016 Beaulieu R VRB_20160823154520
	2016 Knox C VRB_20160906104220
	2016 Lienert L VRB_20160815101456
	2016 Massanek G VRB_20160809095314
	2016 philippon water_20160830095026




